
BOROUGH OF RUSHMOOR
To the Mayor and Members of the Council,

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to attend a Meeting of the Council to be 
held at the Council Offices, Farnborough on Thursday, 8th October, 2015 at 7.00 
pm for the transaction of the business set out on the Agenda given below.

A G E N D A

1. MINUTES

To confirm the Minutes of the Ordinary and Extraordinary Meetings of the Council 
held on 30th July, 2015 (copy Minutes attached).

2. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

3. STANDING ORDER 8 - QUESTIONS

To receive any questions by Members submitted in pursuance of Standing Order 8 
(3).

Public Document Pack



4. NOTICE OF MOTION

To consider the following Notice of Motion, which has been submitted by  Cr. A.H. 
Crawford pursuant to Standing Order 9 (1):

"This Council is moved by the plight of Syrian refugees. We support the 
Government’s pledge to fund the work in the refugee camps bordering Syria. We 
will accept responsibility for our fair share of the 20,000 of those in greatest need of 
humanitarian aid. We also call on the Government to agree with the European 
Union to accept a fair share of those refugees arriving in Europe, while asking other 
member states of the European Union to increase their funding of the work in the 
refugee camps bordering Syria."

5. QUESTIONS FOR THE CABINET

To receive any questions by Members to Cabinet Members submitted in 
accordance with the Procedure Note. 

6. REPORTS OF CABINET AND COMMITTEES

To receive and ask questions on the Reports of the following Meetings (copy 
reports attached):

Cabinet – 28th July, 2015
1st September, 2015
22nd September, 2015

Committees –

Development Management 22nd July, 2015
Development Management 19th August, 2015
Development Management 16th September, 2015

7. REPORTS OF POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS

To note the Reports of the following meetings of the Policy and Review Panels 
(copy reports attached):

Leisure and Youth 7th September, 2015
Environment 8th September, 2015
Borough Services 14th September, 2015
Community 17th September, 2015

A.E. COLVER
Head of Democratic and Customer Services

Council Offices
Farnborough
Hampshire   GU14 7JU

Wednesday 30 September 2015



- 17 - 
 

 

BOROUGH OF RUSHMOOR 
 

MEETING OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL held at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough on Thursday, 30th July, 2015 at 7.20 p.m. 

 
THE WORSHIPFUL THE MAYOR (CR. M.J. TENNANT, B.Sc.)  

THE DEPUTY MAYOR (CR. JACQUI VOSPER) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a 

CR. MRS. D.B. BEDFORD 
CR. D.M.T. BELL 
CR. T.D. BRIDGEMAN, B.A. (Hons.) 
CR. SUE CARTER 
CR. M.S. CHOUDHARY, M.A. 
CR. SOPHIA CHOUDHARY, L.L.B.  
CR. D.E. CLIFFORD, M.P.A., M.C.M.I. 
CR. R. COOPER 
CR. LIZ CORPS, N.N.D., A.T.D. 
CR. A.H. CRAWFORD, J.P., B.Sc.,  
 A.R.C.S., Dip.Man. (Open). 
CR. P.I.C. CRERAR, B.A. (Hons.),  
 M.Arch., M.A. 
CR. K. DIBBLE, M.A.F.M., B.I.F.M. 
CR. SUE DIBBLE 
CR. R.L.G. DIBBS 
CR. JENNIFER M. EVANS, B.Sc., 
 M.Sc. 
CR. A.M. FERRIER 
CR. D.S. GLADSTONE  
CR. C.P. GRATTAN 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CR. R. HUGHES 
CR. BARBARA J. HURST, B.A., M.A.  
CR. A. JACKMAN, B.Sc. 
CR. B. JONES, M.Sc., A.R.C.S., 
  M.N.E.I.M.M.E., C.Eng., M.I.E.T., 
  M.B.C.S., C.I.T.P. 
CR. G.B. LYON, B.A. (Oxon) 
CR. J.H. MARSH, C.Eng., M.I.Mech.E. 
CR. S.J. MASTERSON 
CR. P.J. MOYLE 
CR. K.H. MUSCHAMP 
CR. A.R. NEWELL 
CR. J.J. PREECE 
CR. M.J. ROBERTS, B.Sc., F.R.S.A. 
CR. P.F. RUST, A.I.M.E.E., M.I.S.M. 
CR. M.D. SMITH 
CR. M. STAPLEHURST 
CR. L.A. TAYLOR 
CR. P.G. TAYLOR, A.C.I.B. 
CR. B.A. THOMAS 
CR. D.M. WELCH  

Honorary Alderman C. Balchin J.P. 
a   Honorary Alderman R.J. Debenham, M.B.E. 

a   Honorary Alderman R.J. Kimber 
Honorary Alderman G.J. Woolger 

 
 Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Crs. Sophia Choudhary 
and D.S. Gladstone. 
 

19. MINUTES – 
 
 It was MOVED by Cr. P.J. Moyle; SECONDED by Cr. K.H. Muschamp 
and  
 

RESOLVED:  That, the Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the Council 
held on 25th June, 2015 (copy having been circulated previously) be 
taken as read, approved and signed as a correct record: 

 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 1



- 18 - 
 

 

20. MAYOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS – 
                                                                                                     

(1) The Mayor reported that it had been a great pleasure and honour to 
welcome the Dalai Lama to the Borough when he visited Aldershot on 
29th June, 2015 to open the Buddhist Community Centre adjoining 
Aldershot Town Football Club.  Following his visit to the monastery there, 
the Dalai Lama attended the Football Club’s ground where he addressed 
an invited audience of around 7,000.   
 

(2) The Mayor reported that he had been at the Rushmoor Voluntary 
Services celebration event on 22nd July which had acknowledged the 
contributions that had been made by trustees and committee members of 
local voluntary organisations.  The Mayor acknowledged the vital 
management and guidance provided by such volunteers to the work of 
their organisations.   

 
(3) The Mayor informed Members of the various fundraising activities for his 

nominated charities during his Mayoral Year.   Firstly, the Mayor referred 
to the request for family favourite recipes for his charity recipe book.  
Secondly, he referred to the charity cycle ride to take place on Sunday, 
6th September and hoped that as many Members as possible would 
support this event.  Thirdly, the Mayor drew Members’ attention to his 
charity golf tournament which would take place on Friday, 18th 
September 2015 at Southwood Golf Course.   

 
(4) The Mayor then presented Cr. Sue Dibble with a long service medal.  Cr. 

Sue Dibble had completed 20 years’ service in local government with 
Rushmoor.  Cr. Dibble had been elected to Belle Vue Ward in 1995 –  
now North Town Ward – which she had represented ever since.   Over 
the years, Cr. Dibble had served on many of the Council’s committees 
and panels under the present and previous decision making systems.  
She had also held the position of Chairman of the Development 
Management Committee from 1998 to 2000.   Cr. Dibble had also been a 
Member of the Environment Policy and Review Panel since 2001 and the 
Development Management Committee, in its various forms, since 1998. 
 
Cr. Dibble had represented the Council on several outside bodies, and in 
particular the Connaught Leisure Centre Management Committee since 
2000 and the Mayor stated that these organisations, as well as the 
Council, had benefitted from her depth of knowledge and great ability 
over the years. 
 
The Mayor congratulated Cr. Dibble on achieving this milesetone in 
service at Rushmoor and thanked her for her service to the North Town 
Ward and to the Borough as a whole.   
 

Pack Page 2



- 19 - 
 

 

Cr. Dibble addressed the meeting and thanked her family for their support 
over her 20 years as a Councillor and particularly her parents for instilling 
in her the importance of standing up for what she believed in and trying to 
make a difference, no matter how small the issue, which she felt was 
what being a councillor was all about. 
 

21. STANDING ORDER 8 – QUESTIONS – 
 

The Mayor reported that no questions had been submitted in pursuance 
of Standing Order 8(3).  

 

22. NOTICE OF MOTION – WELFARE SPENDING – 
 

The Council was asked to consider the following Motion, which had been 
submitted by Cr. A.H. Crawford in accordance with the provisions of Standing 
Order 9 (1).   It was MOVED by Cr. A.H. Crawford; SECONDED by Cr. P.F. Rust 
-  That 

 
“Given that the 8th July Budget will on average reduce the income of 
working people on tax credits, this Council recognises the need to invest 
in services and support partners in order to mitigate the adverse effects 
on residents of Rushmoor and asks the Directors’ Management Board to 
draw up suitable plans for consideration by the Cabinet as a matter of 
urgency." 
 

 Speaking in support of his Motion, Cr. Crawford referred to the 
announcement made by the Chancellor of the Exchequer in the Emergency July 
Budget that cuts in spending on welfare of £12 billion would be made by 2019-
20.  The biggest cut to tax credits would be the reduction to the work allowances 
in Universal Credit.  The biggest cut to welfare spending would come from 
extending the freeze in working-age benefits, tax credits and local housing 
allowance through to 2020.  It was understood that the freeze would affect 13 
million families nationally, who would lose an average of £260 a year as a result 
of this measure.  He felt that this represented a shift in the design of the 
Universal Credit system as these allowances had originally been intended to give 
claimants incentives to move into work.   Furthermore, it was understood that this 
budget change would cost about 3 million families nationally an average of 
£1,000 per year each.  It would also reduce the incentive for the first earner in a 
family to get into work. The changes in the current tax credit system would have 
much the same effect.  

 
Cr. Crawford felt that the Council needed to know who was affected 

locally in order to help people where the Council could.  Cr. Crawford was of the 
opinion that  many of the gainers from the higher national minimum wage would 
be single childless people or those married to someone on higher earnings, so 
they would be outside the tax credit system altogether. Overall nationally, the 
increase in employment income from the higher national minimum wage would 
be about £4 billion by 2020.  However, welfare spending as a whole was due to 
fall by £12 billion and tax credit spending was due to be cut by £6 billion.  
 

Pack Page 3



- 20 - 
 

 

Cr. Crawford called on the Council to recognise the need to invest in 
services and to support partners in order to mitigate the adverse effects on 
residents of Rushmoor and the need to ask the Directors’ Management Board to 
draw up suitable plans for consideration by the Cabinet as a matter of urgency. 
  
 During the debate on the Motion, the view was expressed by some that 
the Council had already put in place measures to support residents who were 
struggling financially (e.g. Council Tax Support Scheme) and a cross-party task 
and finish group had also already been established to examine welfare system 
issues. It was therefore felt that the measures proposed in the Motion were 
unnecessary and that the Motion should not be supported. 
 
    The Motion was put to the Meeting.  There voted FOR: 11, AGAINST: 

22 and the Motion was DECLARED LOST. 
 

23. RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CABINET – DEVOLUTION: PROPOSALS 

FOR A HAMPSHIRE-WIDE COMBINED AUTHORITY – 
 
The Leader of the Council  (Cr. P.J. Moyle) introduced the Report of the 

Cabinet, which recommended the development of a proposal with other 
Hampshire and Isle of Wight authorities to bring about devolution of powers and 
responsibilities from central Government to the wider Hampshire area.   

 
It was MOVED by Cr. P.J. Moyle; SECONDED by Cr. R.L.G. Dibbs – That 
 
(i) the local discussions on the devolution of powers and 

responsibilities be noted; 
 

(ii) the actions taken by the Leader, through the Hampshire and Isle of 
Wight Local Government Association, in supporting the principle of a 
Combined Hampshire Authority as a basis for developing a 
devolution deal for the area be endorsed; 
 

(iii) the principle of the Leader and Chief Executive working alongside 
colleagues in Hampshire and the Isle of Wight to develop a model 
for devolution which met local needs be agreed; and 
 

(iv) the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, be authorised 
to approve the initial proposal for submission to Government. 

 
There voted:  FOR: 34; AGAINST: 0 and the Recommendations were 

DECLARED CARRIED.  

 

24. QUESTIONS FOR THE CABINET – 

 
The Mayor reported that three questions had been submitted for Cabinet 

Members: 
 

Pack Page 4



- 21 - 
 

 

(1) Cr. L.A. Taylor asked a question of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services about the Council’s pay agreements for its directly employed 
staff and whether these would continue to abide by the “real” living wage 
as defined by the Living Wage Foundation. 
 
In response, Cr. Taylor stated that, as a result of a Council resolution in 

2013, staff had been moved to the Living Wage.   This hourly rate had been 
uprated each year in line with the recommendations of the Living Wage 
Foundation and currently stood at £7.85 per hour.  It was noted that the 
proposed National Living Wage of £7.20 per hour was less than the current 
payment by Rushmoor of £7.85, so the existing arrangements would stay in 
place.   The situation would be monitored as more details emerged.  The Council 
intended that staff would not be disadvantaged by any changes.     

 
(2) Cr. M.J. Roberts asked a question of the Cabinet Member for 

Environment and Service Delivery about the number of stop and planning 
compliance notices that had been issued in the previous twelve months 
as far as housing was concerned and what roads the properties were 
situated in. 

 
In response, Cr. Dibbs stated that no stop notices had been issued and 

that there was no such thing as a planning compliance notice. 
 

(3) Cr. B. Jones asked a question of the Leader of the Council regarding the 
current position with respect to the Marks and Spencer store in Aldershot. 

 
In response, Cr. Moyle stated his deep disappointment that it appeared 

that the Marks and Spencer store in Aldershot would be closing despite strong 
representations made by the Council, the local Member of Parliament - Sir 
Gerald Howarth MP, other interested parties and residents.   Cr. Moyle confirmed 
that the Council would be following up the issue and a progress report would be 
issued to all Members. The Council would continue with its plans for Union Street 
in Aldershot and this would now embrace the Marks and Spencer store 
premises.    

        

25. REPORTS OF CABINET AND COMMITTEES – 
 

(1) Cabinet – 
                       

It was MOVED by Cr. P.J. Moyle; SECONDED by Cr. K.H. Muschamp  
and 
 

RESOLVED: That the Report of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on 30th 
June, 2015 (Para. Nos. 54 - 64) be received. 

 

(2) Cabinet – 
 

It was MOVED by Cr. P.J. Moyle; SECONDED by Cr. K.H. Muschamp 
and 
 

Pack Page 5



- 22 - 
 

 

RESOLVED: That the Report of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on14th 
July, 2015 (Para. Nos. 65 – 67) be received. 
 

(3) Development Management Committee – 

 
It was MOVED by Cr. G.B. Lyon; SECONDED by Cr. B.A. Thomas and 
 

RESOLVED: That the Report of the Meeting of the Development 
Management Committee held on 24th June, 2015 (Para. Nos. 68 – 80) be 
received. 
 

(4) Licensing and General Purposes Committee – 
 

It was MOVED by Cr. A.M. Ferrier; SECONDED by Cr. S.J. Masterson  
and 
 

RESOLVED: That the Report of the Meeting of the Licensing and 
General Purposes Committee held on 29th June, 2015 (Para. Nos. 81 - 
82) be received. 

 

(5) Standards and Audit Committee – 

 
It was MOVED by Cr. J.H. Marsh; SECONDED by Cr. A.M. Ferrier and 
 

RESOLVED:  That the Report of the Meeting of the Standards and Audit 
Committee held on 2nd July, 2015 (Para. Nos. 83 – 88). 

 

26. REPORTS OF POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS – 
 

RESOLVED:  That the Reports of the undermentioned meetings of the 
Policy and Review Panels be received: 

 

 

POLICY AND REVIEW PANEL 

 

 

DATE OF MEETING 

 

PARA. NOS. 

RECEIVED 

 
Environment  
 

 
9th June, 2015 

 
89 – 95 
 

 
Community 

 
11th June, 2015 

 
96 – 101 
 

 
Borough Services 
 

 
15th June, 2015 

 
102 - 108 

 

 
 The Meeting closed at 8.35 p.m. 

 

 

------------ 

Pack Page 6



- 15 - 
 

 

BOROUGH OF RUSHMOOR 
 

EXTRAORDINARY MEETING OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL held at the 
Council Offices, Farnborough on Thursday, 30th July, 2015 at 7.00 p.m. 

 
THE WORSHIPFUL THE MAYOR (CR. M.J. TENNANT, B.Sc.)  

THE DEPUTY MAYOR (CR. JACQUI VOSPER) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a 

CR. MRS. D.B. BEDFORD 
CR. D.M.T. BELL 
CR. T.D. BRIDGEMAN, B.A. (Hons.) 
CR. SUE CARTER 
CR. M.S. CHOUDHARY, M.A. 
CR. SOPHIA CHOUDHARY, L.L.B.  
CR. D.E. CLIFFORD, M.P.A., M.C.M.I. 
CR. R. COOPER 
CR. LIZ CORPS, N.N.D., A.T.D. 
CR. A.H. CRAWFORD, J.P., B.Sc.,  
 A.R.C.S., Dip.Man. (Open). 
CR. P.I.C. CRERAR, B.A. (Hons.),  
 M.Arch., M.A. 
CR. K. DIBBLE, M.A.F.M., B.I.F.M. 
CR. SUE DIBBLE 
CR. R.L.G. DIBBS 
CR. JENNIFER M. EVANS, B.Sc., 
 M.Sc. 
CR. A.M. FERRIER 
CR. D.S. GLADSTONE  
CR. C.P. GRATTAN 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CR. R. HUGHES 
CR. BARBARA J. HURST, B.A., M.A.  
CR. A. JACKMAN, B.Sc. 
CR. B. JONES, M.Sc., A.R.C.S., 
  M.N.E.I.M.M.E., C.Eng., M.I.E.T., 
  M.B.C.S., C.I.T.P. 
CR. G.B. LYON, B.A. (Oxon) 
CR. J.H. MARSH, C.Eng., M.I.Mech.E. 
CR. S.J. MASTERSON 
CR. P.J. MOYLE 
CR. K.H. MUSCHAMP 
CR. A.R. NEWELL 
CR. J.J. PREECE 
CR. M.J. ROBERTS, B.Sc., F.R.S.A. 
CR. P.F. RUST, A.I.M.E.E., M.I.S.M. 
CR. M.D. SMITH 
CR. M. STAPLEHURST 
CR. L.A. TAYLOR 
CR. P.G. TAYLOR, A.C.I.B. 
CR. B.A. THOMAS 
CR. D.M. WELCH  

Honorary Alderman C. Balchin J.P. 
a   Honorary Alderman R.J. Debenham, M.B.E. 

a   Honorary Alderman R.J. Kimber 
  Honorary Alderman G.J. Woolger 

 
 Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Crs. Sophia Choudhary 
and D.S. Gladstone. 
 

Before the meeting was opened, Cr. A.M. Ferrier, led the meeting in 
Prayers.   
  
 

18. ADMISSION OF HONORARY FREEMEN – THE QUEEN’S OWN GURKHA 

LOGISTIC REGIMENT – 
 

The Mayor referred to the purpose of the Extraordinary Meeting which 
was to pass the formal resolution to admit as Honorary Freemen of the Borough 
of Rushmoor, the Queen’s Own Gurkha Logistic Regiment. 

 

Pack Page 7



- 16 - 
 

 

It was MOVED by Cr. P.J. Moyle;  SECONDED by Cr. J.H. Marsh and 
 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:  

 
“That, in recognition of the bravery and courage of the 
Regiment, its notable and distinguished achievements and in 
appreciation of its contribution to the life of the Borough and its 
strong connections with the local community, the Council of the 
Borough of Rushmoor, in pursuance of Section 249(5) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, hereby confers upon the Queen’s 
Own Gurkha Logistic Regiment the Honorary Freedom of the 
Borough of Rushmoor together with the right, honour and 
distinction of exercising all customary privileges when parading 
in or marching through the streets of the Borough on ceremonial 
occasions.” 
 
The Mayor confirmed that it was intended that the Freedom of the 

Borough would be conferred at a ceremony which would be arranged in 
conjunction with the Military. 

 
 
 

 The Meeting closed at 7.20 p.m. 
 

 

 

 

------------ 

Pack Page 8



Q/89 
  

CABINET 
 

Tuesday, 28th July, 2015 at 4.30 p.m. 
at the Council Offices, Farnborough 

 
Councillor P.J. Moyle (Leader) 

Councillor K.H. Muschamp (Deputy Leader and Business, Safety and 
Regulation Portfolio) 

 
Councillor Sue Carter (Leisure and Youth Portfolio) 

Councillor R.L.G. Dibbs (Environment and Service Delivery Portfolio) 
Councillor R. Hughes (Health and Housing Portfolio) 

Councillor A. Jackman (Concessions and Community Support Portfolio) 
Councillor P.G. Taylor (Corporate Services Portfolio) 

 
   The Cabinet considered the following matters at the above-mentioned 
meeting. All executive decisions of the Cabinet shall become effective, subject 
to the call-in procedure, from 11th August, 2015. 

 
109. MINUTES – 

 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 14th July, 2015 were 

confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
110. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2014/15 – 

(Corporate Services) 
 

 The Cabinet considered the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. 
LEG1513, which proposed the approval of the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement for the year 2014/15, which had been considered and approved by 
the Standards and Audit Committee on 2nd July, 2015, and also that the 
Statement should be signed by the Leader of the Council and the Chief 
Executive. 

 
 The Cabinet was advised that the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

2003, as amended in 2006 and 2011, required local authorities to conduct a 
review, at least annually, of the effectiveness of its system of internal control, 
prepare an Annual Governance Statement and publish this with the Statement 
of Accounts. 

 
 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

had produced guidance and a proforma statement, which had been used to 
develop the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. The Council’s revised 
Local Code of Governance had been adopted in 2014 and formed part of the 
Council’s Constitution. The Statement was required to include notification of 
any significant internal control issues and an action plan to address them.   
The Cabinet was advised that no significant issues had been identified but 
that a number of actions for the current year had been identified and these 
would be addressed during the year. 

Pack Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Q/90 
  

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that the Annual Governance Statement, as 
set out in the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. LEG1513, be 
approved for adoption and publication alongside the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts. 
 

111. PREVENTION AND DETECTION OF FRAUD – NEW APPROACH – 
(Corporate Services) 
 

 The Cabinet considered the Audit Manager’s Report No. AUD1503, 
which set out the results of a review of the Council’s fraud investigation 
service and options for its future delivery. 

 
 The Cabinet was advised that, in recent years, extensive guidance and 

legislation had brought about a number of changes to the way that this work 
was carried out. Looking forward, the introduction of Universal Credit and the 
associated  formation of the Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) would 
require the Council to further consider how work should be carried out, 
particularly around the area of housing benefit fraud. The new SFIS would be 
operated by the Department of Work and Pensions and the investigation of 
most Housing Benefit fraud work would transfer to it, meaning that this would 
no longer be a responsibility of the Council’s Investigations Team. There were, 
however, further areas of work that the Council now had sole responsibility for 
that carried local risk and would require some anti-fraud work, including the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme and the Business Rate Retention Scheme.  

 
The Council currently employed two full-time Investigation Officers, with 

one further post currently vacant. There was an option to apply to transfer 
trained investigations staff to the new SFIS. It was reported that some local 
authorities had decided to reduce or even remove their internal investigation 
service in light of the coming changes. It was, however, proposed that it was 
in the Council’s interest to retain a level of fraud investigation capability. The 
three options set out for consideration were: 

 

 Option 1 – Retain two officers and delete the one vacant post 
 

 Option 2 – Retain one officer, transfer one officer to SFIS and delete 
the one vacant post 

 

 Option 3 – Retain no officers, transfer two officers to SFIS and delete 
the one vacant post 

 
In considering the Council’s obligations under the Audit Commission’s 

guidance ‘Protecting the Public Purse’, it was considered that Options 2 and 3 
would represent a high risk approach. Option 1 would still place the Council at 
the lower end in terms of resources but the risk would be judged to be at a 
medium level. It was confirmed that, if Option 1 were selected, there would be  
capability to continue to investigate residual housing benefit requirements and 
meet other existing commitments as well as start to address situations where 
families had a number of varied issues in a more holistic way.  

Pack Page 10



Q/91 
  

 
The Cabinet was supportive of retaining fraud investigative expertise 

‘in-house’ and requested that opportunities to provide this service to 
neighbouring authorities should be explored in due course. 

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that Option 1, to retain two officers to provide 
the services set out in the Audit Manager’s Report No. AUD1503 and to 
delete the one vacant post from the establishment, be approved and 
that a review of the suitability of the arrangements be carried out, in 
conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services, within 
two years. 
 

112. FARNBOROUGH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED – PERMANENT EXHIBITION 
FACILITIES – 
(Leader of the Council / Corporate Services) 
 

The Cabinet considered the Chief Executive's Report No. CEX1503, 
which set out a proposal to provide a loan of £4.5 million to Farnborough 
International Limited (FIL) for the development of new permanent exhibition 
facilities at the Farnborough Airshow site. 

 
It was explained to Members that the hosting of the Airshow every two 

years currently involved the construction of a number of temporary structures 
as exhibition halls. It was proposed that permanent facilities should be erected 
in respect of Halls 1 and 1A to replace these temporary structures. This would 
cater for the known requirements of the Airshow but would also provide a 
purpose built, high quality venue available for exhibitions, conferences and 
seminars throughout the rest of the two-year cycle of the Airshow.  

 
If agreed, the Council’s loan to FIL would be repayable at 4% interest, 

which compared favourably with the average return for investments within the 
Council’s treasury management portfolio and would result in the Council 
receiving a higher return than currently received. It was acknowledged that 
there was some risk involved with the loan, however it was confirmed that 
steps were being taken by the funding partners, through the Due Diligence 
process, to mitigate the residual risk to an acceptable level. Other funding 
partners included Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise Partnership, Hampshire 
County Council and Barclays Bank. It was also noted that the completed 
permanent halls would attract a significant income to the Council by way of 
Business Rates payments. It was confirmed that the Council would receive its 
interest quarterly from the outset of the loan.  

 
The Cabinet discussed the proposal and considered that the Council’s 

involvement in this project would be to the advantage of all concerned.  
 

The Cabinet RESOLVED that 
 
(i) the offer of a loan, to a maximum of £4.5 million, to 

ADS/Farnborough International Limited for the Farnborough 
International Hall 1/1A Permanent Venue, be approved, subject 

Pack Page 11



Q/92 
  

to the conditions outlined in paragraph 4.6 of the Chief 
Executive’s Report No. CEX 1503; and 
 

(ii) the authority to agree all loan terms and documentation in 
respect of the loan agreement, within the parameters outlined in 
the Report, be delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council, the Chief Financial Officer and 
the Solicitor to the Council. 

 
113. ALDERSHOT TOWN CENTRE – PARKING – 

(Environment and Service Delivery) 
 
The Cabinet considered the Head of Community and Environmental 

Services’ Report No. COMM1514, which sought approval for the introduction 
of a number of parking concessions on a one-year trial basis, aimed at 
encouraging more shoppers to Aldershot town centre and assisting residents 
living in the area. 

 
Members heard that the proposals had been devised in response to 

concerns expressed by residents, Members and businesses that: 
  

 the current parking charges were discouraging shoppers from using the 
town centre 

 

 it was difficult for residents living in the town centre to find free 
overnight parking 

 

 due to the popularity of the free Westgate car park, it was difficult for 
those using the complex and the Princes Hall in the evenings to find a 
parking space 

 
Members were reminded that the one-hour on street parking 

restriction had been introduced at the request of retailers to encourage pop 
in trade and to prevent the bays from being used for long periods by 
commuters, people working and residents living in the town. This had been a 
success with the bays being well used and for this reason, it was not felt that 
reducing the cost of parking or offering free parking would increase the 
number of customers visiting the town. It was, however, proposed to trial the 
provision of 20 free one hour parking bays in the High Street Multi Storey Car 
Park to encourage the use of this currently underused car park. It was 
explained that the Birchett Road Car Park was designated as short stay but 
that, given the low cost of all-day parking at £5 compared to the cost of £7.50 
for all-day parking at the private Railway Station Car Park, this car park was 
being used primarily by commuters. Whilst this brought an income to the 
Council of £115,000 per annum, there could be significant benefit to 
shoppers if the all-day tariff was removed, with a maximum stay of three 
hours imposed. It was proposed to carry out a consultation with commuters 
using the car park to see whether, in the event of this restriction being 
introduced, they were likely to displace to either of the available private car 
parks at the Railway Station or the Wellington Centre or to one of the Council 

Pack Page 12



Q/93 
  

owned car parks at the High Street Multi Storey or Parsons Barracks. The 
information received would inform whether or not to make these changes at 
the Birchett Road Car Park. Regarding evening parking, it was proposed to 
consult with businesses about whether to offer time-limited free on street 
parking after 6 p.m. It was further proposed to offer free overnight parking in 
the High Street Multi Storey Car Park in order to encourage local residents to 
use this facility and ease street parking issues. It was further proposed to 
offer a 60p all-day charge on Sundays in all the Aldershot Council car parks, 
in line with the rate charged by the Wellington Centre.  

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that the following initiatives relating to 
parking in Aldershot town centre, as set out in the Head of Community 
and Environment’s Report No. COMM1514, be approved: 

 
- to provide 20 dedicated bays with up to one hour free parking in 

the High Street Multi Storey Car Park on a one-year trial basis; 
 
- to provide free overnight parking in the High Street Multi Storey 

Car Park from 6 p.m. to 9 a.m.; 
 

- to carry out consultation with town centre residents on their 
overnight parking; 

 
- to introduce 60p all-day on Sundays in the Council’s Aldershot car 

parks on a one-year trial basis;  
 
- to carry out consultation to assess the implications of Birchett 

Road Car Park becoming a three hour maximum stay car park 
and whether this would encourage commuters to use the long 
stay car parks at Parsons Barracks and High Street Multi Storey; 
and 

 
- carry out consultation with businesses to assess the support for 

free evening on street parking. 
 

114. PARKING SERVICE REVIEW – 
(Environment and Service Delivery) 

 
The Cabinet considered the Head of Community and Environmental 

Services’ Report No. COMM1516, which provided an update on the parking 
review and sought approval for changes to staffing arrangements.  

 
Members heard how the systems thinking review of parking had 

focussed on enabling customers to park easily in a safe and accessible 
location. A new radio system had been introduced which provided more 
reliable coverage and safer working. This had enabled the service to 
introduce single working in place of the previous system of working in pairs, 
which had provided a more visible and comprehensive coverage. Since 
single working had been introduced, the number of Penalty Charge Notices 
being issued had increased from an average of 9 per day per officer to 22 

Pack Page 13



Q/94 
  

per day per officer. The proposed provision of an Operations Manager and 
an additional Civil Enforcement Officer, along with improved working 
patterns, would significantly improve the effectiveness of patrols, particularly 
at peak times around schools, resident parking schemes and the town 
centres.  

 
Members were informed that new technology had been introduced in 

April 2015 and this had led to many more transactions being carried out 
online. New smart phones had enabled the Civil Enforcement Officers to 
work more efficiently and speedily when checking vehicles and processing 
Penalty Charge Notices. Members heard that Rushmoor’s pay and display 
machines were now outdated and would, by Summer 2016, be replaced with 
the latest systems on the market, allowing a wider range of payment 
methods. It was reported that, due to changes in legislation, the Council was 
no longer issuing Penalty Charge Notices by CCTV and the areas previously 
surveyed in this way, such as double yellow lines and on street disabled bays 
in the town centre, would be covered by the increase in staff and more 
effective working.  

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that 
 
(i) the appointment of an additional Civil Enforcement Officer be 

approved; and 
 
(ii) the merger of the Senior Civil Enforcement Officer and Office 

Manager to create a new post of Parking Operations Manager 
be approved. 

     
115. COMPULSORY PURCHASE OF A LONG TERM EMPTY PROPERTY – 

(Health and Housing) 
 
The Cabinet considered the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. 

LEG1514, which sought approval for the initiation of compulsory purchase 
proceedings in relation to No. 102 St. George’s Road, Aldershot.  

 
Members heard how the property had not been occupied for around 

fifteen years and was in a poor state of repair. The current owner had 
inherited the property in January 2000 but had never lived there. His exact 
whereabouts were unknown and attempts to trace him had been 
unsuccessful. It was noted that Council Tax arrears in respect of the property 
exceeded £10,000. It was reported that the use of compulsory purchase 
powers in respect of long-term empty properties in the Borough was 
contained within the Council’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2011-
2016. The objective was to bring empty homes in the private sector back into 
use as quickly as possible. It was noted, however, that the use of this power 
was as a last resort when all other endeavours to persuade, encourage or 
enforce action to facilitate reoccupation had failed. It was considered that, 
with complaints having been received from the adjoining owner regarding 
damp and mice problems, the proposed action was the only reasonable 
means available to achieve renovation and reoccupation. Upon acquisition of 

Pack Page 14



Q/95 
  

the property through the compulsory purchase procedure, the market value 
of the property would then need to be paid into Court, assuming that the 
owner had not made contact. It would then be for the Council to decide how 
to dispose of the property and whether or not to renovate the property prior 
to disposal.  

 
In discussing the proposal, the Cabinet was assured that the Council 

Tax arrears would be guaranteed to be paid from the proceeds of the disposal 
of the property.  

  
The Cabinet RESOLVED that  
 
(i) the making of a Compulsory Purchase Order, under section 17 

and Part XVII of the Housing Act 1985 and the Acquisition of 
Land Act 1981, for the purchase of No. 102 St. George’s Road, 
Aldershot, shown shaded grey on the plan in confidential 
Appendix A of the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. LEG1514, 
be approved, to enable its renovation and reoccupation as 
residential accommodation; 

 
(ii) the Solicitor to the Council be authorised, if contact with the 

owner can be established, to seek the purchase of the property 
by agreement, in the first instance; 

 
(iii) the Solicitor to the Council be authorised to take the following 

steps in the event that purchase by agreement cannot be 
achieved: 

 
- take all necessary steps to secure the making, confirmation 

and implementation of the Compulsory Purchase Order, 
including the publication and service of all notices and the 
statement of reasons for making the order and the 
presentation of the Council’s case at any public enquiry; 

 
- suspend the Compulsory Purchase Order proceedings, or 

withdraw an Order, on being satisfied that the reported 
property will be satisfactorily renovated and reoccupied 
without the need to continue the compulsory purchase 
proceedings; 

 
- dispose of the property in accordance with the proposals set 

out in the Report; 
 

- take all other necessary action to give effect to the 
recommendations contained in the Report; and 

 

Pack Page 15



Q/96 
  

(iv) the Head of Financial Services be authorised to make the 
payment of appropriate compensation for the acquisition of the 
property and take all necessary action to recover the 
compensation from the sale of the property. 

 
 
 

           The Meeting closed at 5.25 p.m.       
   

  
  

CR. P.J. MOYLE 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

 
 
 

---------- 

Pack Page 16



Q/97 
  

CABINET 
 

Tuesday, 1st September, 2015 at 4.30 p.m. 
at the Council Offices, Farnborough 

 
Councillor P.J. Moyle (Leader) 

Councillor K.H. Muschamp (Deputy Leader and Business, Safety and 
Regulation Portfolio) 

 
Councillor Sue Carter (Leisure and Youth Portfolio) 

Councillor R.L.G. Dibbs (Environment and Service Delivery Portfolio) 
Councillor R. Hughes (Health and Housing Portfolio) 

Councillor A. Jackman (Concessions and Community Support Portfolio) 
Councillor P.G. Taylor (Corporate Services Portfolio) 

 
   The Cabinet considered the following matters at the above-mentioned 
meeting. All executive decisions of the Cabinet shall become effective, subject 
to the call-in procedure, from 15th September, 2015. 

 
116. MINUTES – 

 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 28th July, 2015 were 

confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
117. CONTRACTOR ANNUAL SERVICE PLANS 2015/16 – 

(Environment and Service Delivery/Leisure and Youth) 
 
(1) Places for People Leisure –  

 
The Cabinet received the Corporate Director’s Report No. CD1509 and 

the Places for People (PfP) Leisure Delivery Plan 2015-16.  The Report 
advised that PfP had performed well on the contract during the previous year.  
PfP and the Council had continued to work in partnership on the Megarider 
bus ticket and £1 summer holiday swimming initiatives. 

 
Duncan Mackay, the local Contract Manager, attended the meeting to 

present the Leisure Delivery Plan.  There were a number of positive 
messages in the Delivery Plan.  PfP had been named, for the third year 
running, UK Active’s Leisure Centre Operator of the Year and had been the 
first organisation in the United Kingdom to receive a Quest Stretch validation 
in sports development. There had been an increase in attendance on the 
swimming lesson programmes and the number of casual swimmers had also 
gone up. There had been considerable investment in the leisure facilities at 
Farnborough Leisure Centre and Aldershot Pools, including £110,000 spent 
on replacement fitness equipment at Farnborough and a £60,000 
refurbishment to the fitness facility at Aldershot. LED lighting had continued to 
be introduced at both sites. PfP’s customer advisers and marketing teams had 
continued to produce high quality marketing material and had worked closely 
with the Council’s Communications Team in a number of areas. Social media 

Pack Page 17



Q/98 
  

had been used increasingly in contacting existing and potential new 
customers. The price of gym membership had been cut significantly in order 
to compete with other local providers and this had seen a sharp increase in 
take-up.  

 
The main issues for 2015-16 included continuing to enhance and 

improve the range of activities on offer to local residents, carrying out further 
improvement works at the facilities and working with the Council and other 
local partners to provide support to community safety initiatives and 
disadvantaged groups. 

 
The Cabinet welcomed the Delivery Plan and the positive work carried 

out by PfP across the Borough.  There was some discussion on the increased 
use of technology in tracking students’ progress with swimming lessons amd 
how this might be rolled out and across other types of lessons. An enquiry 
was also made about visitor numbers to the Aldershot Lido and whether it had 
been adversely affected by the recent changeable weather. 

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that the Places for People Leisure Delivery 
Plan 2015-16, as set out in the Corporate Director’s Report No. 
CD1509, be endorsed. 

 
(2) Team Rushmoor – 

 
The Cabinet received the Corporate Director’s Report No. CD1510 and 

the Team Rushmoor (Veolia) Service Plan for 2015-16.  Members were 
reminded that the current contract was due to end in March 2017.  Highlights 
in the Report included the continued growth of the brown bin garden waste 
collection scheme, the refurbishment of the Cove Green public toilets and 
securing the Silver Gilt award for Aldershot Town Centre in the South and 
South East In Bloom competition and the Gold award for the Aldershot 
Crematorium. 

 
John Stockings, Veolia’s Contract Manager, attended the meeting to 

present the Service Plan.  The Cabinet was advised that there had been some 
issues in the winter due, mainly, to persistent strong winds which had caused 
litter to be spread over large areas. Whilst the Transport Industry had, 
generally, suffered a shortage in qualified LGV (Large Goods Vehicle) drivers, 
Veolia had overcome this by providing in-house driver training. Staff turnover 
had remained low at less than 1% of the workforce. 

 
Issues for 2015-16 included working in partnership to reduce 

contamination, which continued to be a problem for the recycling service, 
utilising new software that had been introduced in relation to bulky waste 
collections and continuing to invest in renewing vehicles that were past their 
useful life. Preparing a comprehensive bid to retain the work at the contract 
retendering stage was also a key priority for Veolia in the coming year.  

 
The Cabinet was satisfied at the level of service provided by Veolia 

under the contract and thanks were expressed to Mr. Stockings, personally, as 

Pack Page 18



Q/99 
  

this was to be his final report to the Council before retirement. 
 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that Team Rushmoor/Veolia’s Service Plan 
for 2015-16, as set out in the Corporate Director’s Report No. CD1510, 
be endorsed. 
 

118. FINANCIAL MATTERS – 
(Leader of the Council) 

 
(1) Revenue Budget Monitoring and Forecasting 2015/16 – Position at 

July, 2015 –  
 

The Cabinet considered the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. 
FIN1515, which set out the anticipated financial position for 2015/16, based 
on the monitoring exercise carried out during July 2015. The Report explained 
that, in the monitoring exercise, service managers had identified a net 
overspend of approximately £43,000 against their non-salary budgets. 
Corporate variances included staff salary savings, which totalled around 
£360,000. The Report identified the Business Rate Retention Scheme as 
being the cause of the greatest variances affecting the first quarter, though 
this was mostly down to timing issues and would not affect the Council’s 
financial position in the longer term.  

 
It was proposed to make three transfers to reserves to mitigate risks of 

fluctuations in income and expenditure, to increase the revenue contributions 
towards capital expenditure in respect of income generating proposals within 
the Council’s 8-Point Plan and to cover future mercury abatement measures 
at the Council’s crematorium. The Report listed a number of financial risks 
facing the Council but it was anticipated that the Stability and Resilience 
Reserve would offer an element of protection for the Council from these. The 
major risks identified included that the Council might not achieve the savings 
targets required, that projects would not deliver efficiency savings to timescale 
and that income streams might deteriorate due to the economic climate, 
including planning fees, parking income and rents. 

  
Members considered the Report and expressed their satisfaction with 

both the current revenue budget position and the measures put in place to 
ensure future financial stability. The purpose and use of reserves was also 
discussed.  

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that 

 
(i)  the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. FIN1515 be noted; 

  
(ii)  the virements and supplementary estimates, as set out in the 

 Report, be approved; 
 

(iii) the initial estimates for the use of the Service Improvement 
 Fund, as set out in the Report, be approved; 
 

Pack Page 19



Q/100 
  

(iv) the creation of a reserve for mercury abatement measures, as 
 set out in the Report, be approved; and 
 

(v)  the increase in revenue contributions to capital outlay, subject to 
 the final outturn position, as set out in the Report, be approved. 

 
(2) Capital Programme Monitoring 2015/16 – Position at July, 2015 –  
 

The Cabinet received the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. 
FIN1516, which provided the latest forecast regarding the Council’s Capital 
Programme for 2015/16. The Report advised that the Programme, including 
slippages and variations, totalled £11,394,000. The recent monitoring exercise 
had identified a number of areas of slippage, including improvement works at 
the Brickfield Country Park and playground refurbishments at Manor Park and 
the Municipal Gardens in Aldershot. 

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that the latest Capital Programme monitoring 
position, as set out in the Head of Financial Services’ Report No. 
FIN1516, be noted. 

 
119. CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CORPORATE PLAN 2015/16 – QUARTER 

ONE MONITORING – 
(Leader of the Council) 
 

 The Cabinet received the Directors’ Management Board’s Report No. 
DMB1504, which gave an update on performance management monitoring 
information against the Corporate Plan for the first quarter of the 2015/16 
financial year.   

 
The Chief Executive gave Members an update on strategic and 

performance management data on many areas, including demographics, 
crime, economic data and housing completions. Members also heard about 
key initiatives and service measures under the themes of: 

 

 People and communities 

 Prosperity 

 Place 

 Leadership 

 Good value services 
 

It was noted that 87.9% of the indicators were on target, 11.1% were in 
question as to whether they would achieve the action or indicator and 1.0% 
were unable to achieve elements of the target. The Chief Executive gave a 
summary of key projects that were ongoing and responded to Members’ 
questions.   
 

The Cabinet NOTED the Directors’ Management Board Report No. 
DMB1504 and the performance made against the Corporate Plan in the 
first quarter of the 2015/16 financial year. 

 

Pack Page 20



Q/101 
  

120. BUILDING CONTROL FINANCIAL STATEMENT 2014/15 AND CHARGES 
FOR 2015/16 – 
(Environment and Service Delivery) 

 
 The Cabinet considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1543, 

which set out the Building Control Financial Statement for its fee earning work 
for the year ended 31st March, 2015 and also reviewed the current charges 
for building control work. It was reported that Building Control’s fee income for 
2014/15 had resulted in an operating deficit of £24,709 which had increased 
the rolling deficit to £31,201. It was reported that, to try to improve the 
robustness of the service in a challenging financial environment, the Council 
had negotiated with Hart District Council to provide a joint Building Control 
Service, which had been in operation since 1st July, 2015. Whilst it was 
anticipated that this arrangement would provide a better service in due 
course, in the short term it was proving difficult to recruit additional qualified 
Building Control Officers. In light of these changes, it was proposed that fees 
should remain unaltered at the present time. It was proposed to introduce a 
single fee structure across the two authorities in due course.  
   

The Cabinet RESOLVED that the financial statement for Building 
 Control for 2014/15 be endorsed and the current charging structure 
 remain unaltered for the time being. 

 
121. ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY– 

(Corporate Services) 
 

The Cabinet considered the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. 
LEG1515, which set out a proposal to develop a three-year asset 
management strategy. The aim of the strategy would be to ensure better use 
of the Council’s property assets and would include a policy of seeking to 
invest in the acquisition of commercial and, potentially, residential properties, 
with the intention of achieving additional revenue streams. The strategy could 
also provide direct intervention in town centre regeneration through strategic 
acquisitions.  

 
It was reported that this proposal had been developed following some 

work by consultants, Montague Evans, in 2014. The Council had 
commissioned the company to assess the health of the Council’s property 
portfolio. In the report, Montague Evans considered the following: 

 

 The composition of the Council’s portfolio 
 

 A review of the types of assets and their potential 
 

 The Council’s key corporate plan objectives and how they link to its 
property portfolio 

 

 Areas for potential change and evolution of the property portfolio 
through a business plan 

Pack Page 21



Q/102 
  

 
Following receipt of the report, research had been carried out to 

establish whether any other local authorities, that had already developed 
successful asset management strategies, would be willing to assist the 
Council in the development of its strategy. As a result of this exercise, it was 
now proposed that the Council should establish an arrangement with 
Eastleigh Borough Council to work collaboratively to develop an approach and 
produce an asset management strategy that met the stated strategic 
objectives set out in the Montague Evans report. Eastleigh Borough Council 
had generated around £6.5 million per annum in additional revenue over the 
previous five years and was seen as a beacon of good practice in this field. 
The cost of the preparation of the asset management strategy would be 
£30,000 over a six to eight week period. This amount would be drawn from 
the Service Improvement Fund. Once a draft strategy had been prepared, this 
would be brought back to the Cabinet and would also be the subject of a 
Member workshop. Ongoing support would then be available from the 
Eastleigh Borough Council Estates Team to the Council to implement the 
strategy, at the rates set out in the Report. 

 
Members considered the Report and expressed support for the 

approach being proposed.   
 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that 

 
(i) the approach set out in the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. 
  LEG1515 be endorsed; and 
   
(ii)  the drawing of £30,000 from the Service Improvement Fund, to 

 facilitate the preparation of the asset management strategy, be 
 approved. 
 

122. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC – 
 

RESOLVED:  That, taking into account the public interest test, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during the discussion of the under 
mentioned item to avoid the disclosure of exempt information within the 
paragraph of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 1972 
indicated against the item: 

 
Report  Schedule 12A Category 
Para. No.  Para. No.  

   
123  3   Information relating to financial or 

      business affairs 
 

THE FOLLOWING ITEM WAS CONSIDERED 
IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PUBLIC 

 

Pack Page 22



Q/103 
  

123. NO. 12 ARTHUR STREET, ALDERSHOT – FUTURE USE – 
(Corporate Services) 
 

 The Cabinet considered the Solicitor to the Council’s Exempt Report 
No. LEG1516, which set out options for the future use of the property at No. 
12 Arthur Street, Aldershot. It was explained that the property had been the 
original office for the charity Relate until they had moved to new premises at 
Nos. 35 - 39 High Street, Aldershot in 2011. Since then, the property had been 
vacant and was currently in a poor state of repair. In light of the Council’s 8-
Point Plan, which required better use of property and assets, it was not 
considered appropriate to allow the property to deteriorate further. Various 
options had been considered but it was proposed that the most appropriate 
course of action would be to apply for prior approval to change the use of the 
premises from an office to three domestic flatted units. The property could 
then be sold with prior approval granted for flats and this would realise a 
higher value than if marketed as offices. Alternatively, the Council could 
undertake to carry out the conversion works itself and then sell the three 
converted flats on the open market or, if the Council had formed a housing 
company, rent the properties out to gain income.  

 
Members were advised that this option would achieve the highest 

possible return from the disposal of the property. It was likely that, in light of 
current legislation, the Council would need to set up a company if choosing 
this option, as the Council would be seen to be trading. It was likely that, in 
bringing forward its proposed asset management strategy, the Council would 
be requiring to set up such a company in any case.  
 

The Cabinet RESOLVED that 
 

(i) the Solicitor to the Council be authorised to: 
 

- take all preliminary steps to enable a prior approval 
application to be submitted for the redevelopment of No. 12 
Arthur Street, Aldershot as three residential flats; and 

 
- subject to the issue of a trading company being resolved, to 

take all necessary steps to convert the property to flats and, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services, to either dispose of the flats to generate a capital 
receipt or hold them as a property asset for future letting; and 

 
(ii) that expenditure in the sum of £8,000 be authorised towards the 

professional fees and the prior approval application fee.  
 
 

           The Meeting closed at 6.12 p.m.       
   

CR. P.J. MOYLE 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

Pack Page 23



Q/104 
  

CABINET 
 

Tuesday, 22nd September, 2015 at 4.30 p.m. 
at the Council Offices, Farnborough 

 
Councillor P.J. Moyle (Leader) 

a  Councillor K.H. Muschamp (Deputy Leader and Business, Safety and 
Regulation Portfolio) 

 
a  Councillor Sue Carter (Leisure and Youth Portfolio) 

Councillor R.L.G. Dibbs (Environment and Service Delivery Portfolio) 
Councillor R. Hughes (Health and Housing Portfolio) 

Councillor A. Jackman (Concessions and Community Support Portfolio) 
Councillor P.G. Taylor (Corporate Services Portfolio) 

 
   Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of the Deputy Leader 
(Councillor K.H. Muschamp) and Councillor Sue Carter. 

 
   The Cabinet considered the following matters at the above-mentioned 
meeting. All executive decisions of the Cabinet shall become effective, subject 
to the call-in procedure, from 6th October, 2015. 

 
124. MINUTES – 

 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 1st September, 2015 

were confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
125. ALDERSHOT TOWN CENTRE PROSPECTUS – DRAFT 

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – 
(Environment and Service Delivery) 
 

The Cabinet considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1539, 
which set out the draft Aldershot Town Centre Prospectus Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) and sought agreement for this to be published for 
consultation. Members were reminded that the Council’s Core Strategy had 
been adopted in October 2011 and provided an overarching strategy for the 
regeneration of Aldershot town centre. Furthermore, the Aldershot Town 
Centre Supplementary Planning Document had been adopted by the Council 
in January 2009 and had set out a detailed vision for the environmental and 
physical improvement of Aldershot town centre, including the identification of 
development opportunity sites. Members were informed that a more proactive 
approach was now required, through partnership working, to secure 
investment and deliver improvements and development, whilst capitalising on 
the Westgate development and the Aldershot Urban Extension. The Council 
had, therefore, appointed Allies and Morrison Urban Practitioners to devise a 
strategy for regeneration, based on viable investment and development 
options to attract investment into Aldershot town centre. The Council had 
already identified six key sites with development potential: 

 

Pack Page 24



Q/105 
  

 The Galleries 
 

 Union Street East 
 

 High Street (Kings Centre/Gala Bingo) 
 

 Hippodrome House area 
 

 Westgate Phase 2 (Princes Hall and police station) 
 

 Aldershot railway station 
 

The Cabinet received a presentation by Mr. Steve Walker of Allies and 
Morrison, which explained how the prospectus document was laid out and the 
process by which it had been prepared. Members heard how the vision for the 
town centre had been set out across six themes: 

 

 A revitalised town centre offer 
 

 Town centre living 
 

 A family-friendly town centre 
 

 An improved cultural offer 
 

 Investing in streets and spaces 
 

 Affirming the Victorian heritage 
 

It was proposed that the public consultation on the draft SPD would last 
for six weeks, after which it would be submitted to the Cabinet for formal 
adoption. 

 
 The Cabinet considered the draft SPD and expressed strong support 

for the approach taken. Members stressed how important it was for the 
consultation to be accessible for all members of the community and it was 
confirmed that people would be able to submit comments through a variety of 
channels.  

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that 

 
(i)  the draft Aldershot Town Centre Prospectus Supplementary 

Planning Document be approved for public consultation for a 
period of six weeks; and 

    
(ii)  the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 

for Environment and Service Delivery, be authorised to make 
any necessary minor amendments to the Prospectus, prior to the 
commencement of the public consultation.   

Pack Page 25



Q/106 
  

 
126. DRAFT RUSHMOOR BIODIVERSITY ACTION PLAN 2016 - 2021 – 

(Environment and Service Delivery) 
 

The Cabinet considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1545, 
which set out the draft updated Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) for Rushmoor 
and sought agreement for this to be published for consultation. Members were 
reminded that the Rushmoor Biodiversity Action Plan 2016 – 2021 had been 
produced after a key stakeholder meeting held on 15th February, 2015 and 
the document identified: 

 

 Key habitats within the Borough 
 

 Priority species associated with different habitats 
 

 Main threats to local biodiversity 
 

 Key actions needed to protect and enhance biodiversity 
 

The stakeholder meeting had been well attended, with Rushmoor staff 
being joined by key partner organisations, including the Basingstoke Canal 
Authority, the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust, local enthusiasts and 
members of the Rushmoor Urban Wildlife Group.  

 
Members were informed that the updated action plan would build upon 

the work already undertaken as a result of the previous plan, set out strategic 
actions at a local level and provide a more detailed overview of the local 
environment and the local threats to priority habitats and species. It was 
explained that, since 2006, there had been a statutory obligation on local 
authorities to conserve biodiversity. 

 
It was proposed that the public consultation on the draft BAP would last 

for six weeks, after which it would be submitted to the Cabinet for formal 
adoption. 

 
 The Cabinet considered the draft BAP and put forward several changes 

to the consultation draft. There was broad support for the Plan and its aims.  
 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that 

 
(i)  the draft Rushmoor Biodiversity Action Plan be approved for 

public consultation for a period of six weeks; and 
    
(ii)  the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 

for Environment and Service Delivery, be authorised to make 
any necessary minor amendments to the Plan, prior to the 
commencement of the public consultation.   

 

Pack Page 26



Q/107 
  

127. FARNBOROUGH AIRPORT COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENTAL FUND – 
(Environment and Service Delivery) 
  

The Cabinet considered the Head of Community and Environmental 
Services’ Report No. COMM1517, which sought approval to award a grant 
from the Farnborough Airport Community Environmental Fund, which had 
been set up to assist local projects.   

 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Service Delivery had 

considered the application by the Prospect Estate Big Local for an award of 
£3,000 towards the cost of the development of an environmental master plan 
for the area and had recommended that this should be approved.   

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that a grant of £3,000 be awarded from the 
 Farnborough Airport Community Environmental Fund to the Prospect 
Estate Big Local. 
 

128. GRANTS TO VOLUNTARY ORGANISATIONS – 
(Concessions and Community Support) 

 
 The Cabinet received the Head of Community and Environmental 

Services’ Report No. COMM1518, which set out details of applications for 
grants from voluntary organisations. In accordance with the agreed procedure 
for the allocation of grants, the Cabinet Member for Concessions and 
Community Support had approved two grants for £1,000 or less. It was also 
recommended that the Rushmoor Gymnastics Academy should receive an 
award of £2,000 towards the training costs of two new apprentices.  

  
The Cabinet 
 
(i) NOTED that the following grants totalling £800 had been 

approved by the Cabinet Member for Concessions and 
Community Support: 

 
Aldershot Royal British Legion    £300 
7th Farnborough Scout Troop    £500 

  
(ii) RESOLVED that a grant of £2,000 to the Rushmoor Gymnastics 

Academy be approved. 
 

NOTE:  Cr. A. Jackman declared a prejudicial interest in this item in 
respect of his children’s use of the Rushmoor Gymnastics Academy  
and, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, left the 
meeting during the discussion and voting thereon. 
 

Pack Page 27



Q/108 
  

129. THE SOURCE, BOULTERS HOUSE, NO. 237 HIGH STREET,   
ALDERSHOT  – 
(Corporate Services) 
 

 The Cabinet considered the Solicitor to the Council’s Report No. 
LEG1517, which set out the circumstances that had led to the Source 
deciding to vacate the property at Boulters House, No. 237 High Street, 
Aldershot and to relocate to a smaller premises. The Report also detailed how 
it was proposed that the Council might assist the charity in this situation. 
Members heard how the property at Boulters House had been purchased by 
the Source in 2006 and it was explained that, at that time, the Council had 
loaned the sum of £350,000 towards the purchase price. The term of the loan 
was ten years and it was secured by a charge over the premises. Since 2010, 
financial difficulties had meant that the Source had struggled to make 
repayments on the loan. In December 2014, the Source had told the Council 
that it was seeking to make the charity self-sustaining through its bike project 
but, to do this, had identified that a move to smaller, more affordable premises 
was necessary. To aid the Source with relocating, the Council had 
commissioned a survey, which indicated that serious structural defects existed 
at Boulters House. It was estimated that repair costs in the medium term were 
likely to total around £160,000 and, therefore, it was considered that the 
property was beyond economic repair.  

 
The Council had assisted the Source to identify new premises and it 

was proposed that they would relocate to Suite 3 on the ground floor of 
Wesley Chambers. It was further proposed that the Council would pay the first 
year’s rent of £20,000 to the landlord on behalf of the Source. The total 
mortgage debt owed to the Council in respect of Boulters House totalled 
£328,125 in capital terms plus outstanding interest payments. It was proposed 
that the Council would receive the transfer of the ownership of Boulters House 
in repayment of the debt. The redevelopment of that site would produce a 
capital receipt to offset the amount owed to the Council. It was not known at 
this time whether the total debt would be cleared by this action but, in any 
case, it was explained that the Source had no other means to pay the amount 
owed. For this reason, it was recommended that this course of action would 
lead to the best possible outcome for all parties. 

 
Members were keen to support this local charity and were appreciative 

of the valuable services the Source had delivered to young people over a 
number of years. It was agreed that this proposal offered a clear way forward 
for both the Source and the Council.  

 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that 

 
(i)  the Solicitor to the Council be authorised to: 
 

- pay the first year’s rent of £20,000 to the landlord of 
Wesley Chambers upon the granting of the lease; 

 

Pack Page 28



Q/109 
  

- reimburse the valuation fee to the Source for the valuation 
of Boulters House; 
 

- take a transfer of Boulters House in consideration of the 
release of  the Council’s legal charge over the premises;  
 

- take all steps necessary to bring Boulters House forward 
for redevelopment; and 

 
(ii)  supplementary estimates in respect of the first year’s rent, the 

valuation fee and stamp duty on the transfer of the premises to 
the Council be approved.   

 
 

 
           The Meeting closed at 5.25 p.m.       

 
 
 

CR. P.J. MOYLE 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

 

Pack Page 29



 

Q/110 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
 COMMITTEE  
 

 Meeting held on Wednesday, 22nd July, 2015 at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough at 7.00 p.m. 
 
Voting Members 
  Cr. G.B. Lyon (Chairman) 

Cr. B.A. Thomas (Vice-Chairman)  
   

 
 

Cr. D.B. Bedford 
Cr. D.M.T. Bell 
Cr. R. Cooper 

 
 

 a 
 
* 

Cr. P.I.C. Crerar 
Cr. Sue Dibble 
Cr. Jennifer Evans 
 
Cr. P.F. Rust 
 

 
 
 

Cr. D. Gladstone 
Cr. C.P. Grattan 
Cr. J.H. Marsh 
 

 Non-Voting Member 
 
 a   Cr. R.L.G. Dibbs (Cabinet Member for Service and Delivery)  

  (ex officio) 
  
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Cr. Jennifer Evans.  
 

  *Cr. P.F. Rust attended as standing deputy in place of Cr. Jennifer 
Evans. 

 
130. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

131. MINUTES –   
 

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 24th June, 2015 were approved 
and signed by the Chairman. 

 
132. TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT, 1990 (AS AMENDED) -  

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL DEVELOPMENT 
PROCEDURE) ORDER, 1995 - 
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS GENERALLY – 
 

RESOLVED: That 
 
(i) permission be given for the following application set out in 

Appendix “A” attached hereto, subject to the conditions, 
restrictions and prohibitions (if any) mentioned therein: 
 

* 15/00322/FULPP (No. 6 Samson Close, Aldershot) 

 

Pack Page 30



 

Q/111 

(ii) the applications dealt with by the Head of Planning, where 
necessary in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, more particularly specified 
in Section “D” of the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1535, 
be noted;  
 

(iii) the following application be determined by the Head of Planning, 
in consultation with the Chairman: 
 

* 15/00461/FUL (No. 134 Holly Road, Aldershot); and 
 

(iv) the current position with regard to the following applications be 
noted pending consideration at a future meeting: 

 
 15/00427/FULPP (No. 177 Ash Road, Aldershot) 
 15/00475/FULPP (The Queen’s Head, No. 97 North Lane, 

Aldershot) 
 15/00487/FULPP (SBAC Exhibition Area, ETPS Road, 

Farnborough). 
 

* The Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1535 in respect of these 
applications was amended at the meeting. 

 
133. REPRESENTATIONS BY THE PUBLIC – 
 

In accordance with the guidelines for public participation at meetings, 
the following representation was made to the Committee and was duly 
considered before a decision was reached: 

 

Application No. Address Representation In support of 
or against the 
application 

15/00461/FUL 
 
 

(No. 134 Holly 
Road, Aldershot) 
 

Mr. P. Needham 
 
 

In support 
 
 

134. APPLICATION NO. 15/00461/FUL – NO. 134 HOLLY ROAD, ALDERSHOT – 
 

The Committee considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. 
PLN1535 (as amended at the meeting) regarding the demolition of the 
existing bungalow and the erection of four three-bedroom dwelling houses at 
No. 134 Holly Road, Aldershot.  Before considering the application in detail, 
the Committee received a representation in accordance with the scheme of 
public representation from Mr. P. Needham in support of the application. 

 
It was noted that the recommendation was to grant planning 

permission, subject to the completion of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990. 

 
RESOLVED:  That 
 

Pack Page 31



 

Q/112 

(i) subject to the completion of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 
by 12th August, 2015 to secure an appropriate contribution 
towards open space, transport and Special Protection Area 
mitigation, the Head of Planning in consultation with the 
Chairman, be authorised to grant planning permission subject to 
the conditions and informatives set out in the Head of Planning’s 
Report No. PLN1535 (as amended); however 

 
(ii) in the event that a satisfactory unilateral undertaking is not 

received by 12th August, 2015, the Head of Planning, in 
consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to refuse planning 
permission on the grounds that the proposal does not make 
satisfactory provision for: public open space in accordance with 
Core Strategy Policies CP10, CP11 and CP12 and saved Local 
Plan Policy OR4; a transport contribution in accordance with the 
Council’s adopted ‘Transport Contributions’ Supplementary 
Planning Document and Core Strategy Policies CP10, CP16 and 
CP17; and a financial contribution to mitigate the effect of the 
development on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection 
Area Interim Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy and Core 
Strategy Policies CP11 and CP13.  

 
135. ENFORCEMENT AND POSSIBLE UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT –  

 
(i) No. 329 Pinewood Park, Farnborough – 
 

The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1536 
regarding the insertion of a first-floor window in the side elevation of No. 329 
Pinewood Park, Farnborough. The Committee was informed that the property 
was situated in a terrace of similar properties and the dwellings were 
arranged in pairs which were staggered relative to the next pair.  This had 
resulted in some of the properties, including No. 329, having a side elevation 
which, in this case, adjoined the front garden of No. 331. 

 
A site visit had confirmed that a bathroom window had been installed in 

the flank elevation of the building measuring 0.6 metres by 0.4 metres height.  
Planning permission was required as it was set 1.7 metres above the floor 
level of the bathroom and also because an Article 4 Direction in relation to 
Pinewood Park had removed ‘permitted development’ rights for external 
alterations to the premises.  The window had also been identified as a 
potential source of overlooking and loss of privacy to the neighbouring 
property due to the fact that the opening part of the window was set lower 
than 1.7 metres above the interior floor level (the height indicated as sufficient 
to safeguard privacy).  However, this was only by seven centimetres and 
given the open plan design of the estate it was considered that the loss of 
privacy was not so great as to merit further action. 

 

Pack Page 32



 

Q/113 

It was therefore considered that the unauthorised window would not 
cause any significant material harm to the visual character of the area or to 
the amenities of neighbours.   In addition, planning permission would have 
been granted by the Council if an application had been submitted.  Therefore, 
in accordance with Policy PE3 it was considered neither expedient nor 
reasonable for the Council to take enforcement action in respect of the breach 
of planning control that had taken place. 

  
RESOLVED:  That no further action be taken. 
 

(ii) No. 23 Juniper Road, Farnborough – 
 
 The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1536 
regarding the conversion of a garage into a habitable room at No. 23 Juniper 
Road, Farnborough.  The property was a two storey detached house on the 
corner of Juniper Road and Baywood Close and had an attached garage over 
which was a room.  The garage had been converted to form a habitable room 
with no external alterations.   
 

The original planning permission (No. 91/00083/FUL) for the 
development of 96 residential units and associated infrastructure, had 
contained a condition that any garages or parking spaces should be retained 
for parking purposes only.  Although the garage door remained in place, the 
garage was no longer available to park a vehicle.  Despite contact with the 
owner no planning application had been submitted for the development. 

 
The Committee was informed that the Transportation Strategy Office 

was satisfied that, even with the loss of the garage, there was sufficient off-
road parking at the property.  It was therefore concluded that, as there had 
been no external changes, the unauthorised conversion would not cause any 
material harm to the visual character of the area, also no harm would be 
caused to the amenities of the neighbours or highway safety.  If a planning 
application had been submitted, it would have been recommended for 
approval.  Therefore, in accordance with Policies CP2 and CP16 of the Core 
Strategy and saved Policy ENV17 of the Rushmoor Local Plan it was 
considered neither expedient nor reasonable for the Council to take 
enforcement action in respect of the breach of planning control. 

 
RESOLVED:  That no further action be taken. 
 

(iii) Delegated Decisions to take Enforcement Action – 
 

RESOLVED:  The Committee noted the enforcement action taken by 
the Head of Planning in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation, more particularly specified in the Head of Planning’s 
Report No. PLN1536.  
 

Pack Page 33



 

Q/114 

136. VARIATION OF THE LEGAL AGREEMENT RELATING TO NORTH TOWN 
STAGE II DEVELOPMENT – 

 
The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1537 

(as amended at the meeting) which sought authority to vary the terms of the 
2014 legal agreement relating to the payment of financial contributions in 
relation to Plot Nos. 472 – 482 of the North Town, Stage II development.  The 
request was to vary the payment of financial contributions on a pro-rata basis, 
with the remainder of the contributions being paid and the clauses relating to 
affordable housing and the travel plan taking effect when Phase 6 was 
implemented in 2017. 

 
The Committee was informed that, whilst Plot Nos. 472 – 482 had been 

approved as part of the Stage II planning permission, the plots were 
surrounded by development which had been approved and were located 
within Phase 4 of the Stage I planning permission issued in October, 2009.  
The applicant, First Wessex, had confirmed that Plot Nos. 472 – 482 would be 
built at part of Phase 4 of Stage 1.  This meant that the construction of those 
plots would implement the 2014 permission and would trigger the clauses in 
the 2014 agreement.  As the remainder of the Stage II permission (identified 
as Phase 6) was not due to be commenced until Summer, 2017, the applicant 
had requested that the 2014 agreement be amended, such that the open 
space, Special Protection Area (SPA) and transport contributions would be 
paid on implementation on a pro-rata basis for Plots 472 – 482, with the 
remainder of the contributions being paid and the clauses relating to 
affordable housing and the travel plan taking effect when Phase 6 was 
implemented in 2017. 

 
It was highlighted that, given its size, the development would take 

place over an extended period of time.  To date the applicant had completed 
243 dwellings pursuant to the 2009 permission.  It was noted that the main 
reason that Plot Nos. 472 – 482 had been excluded from the remainder of 
Phase 4 had been due to a lack of SPA mitigation being available in 2009.  
Given the overall construction programme for the site and the disruption that 
would arise to future residents of Phase 4 if Plots 472 – 485 were to be built in 
2017, it was considered both sensible and logical to complete these plots as 
part of Phase 4.  To this end it was agreed that the financial contributions due 
to Rushmoor in respect of open space and SPA mitigation could be paid on a 
pro-rata basis.  The 2009 and 2014 permissions had both included clauses 
relating to the provision of affordable housing.  Given the small number of 
units concerned (four affordable units out of eleven), in the context of a total 
number of units (a minimum of 172 affordable units out of 431 and 79 
affordable out of 226) and the applicants’ status as a registered social 
housing provider, it was considered that the proposed variation would not 
prejudice the overall provision of affordable housing for the North Town 
redevelopment.   

 
The Head of Planning’s Report was updated at the meeting and the 

Committee was informed that the Council’s Strategy and Enabling Manager 
had written in support of the proposed variation on the grounds that it would 

Pack Page 34



 

Q/115 

improve the programme deliverability and viability for the regeneration of 
North Town and would ensure that the existing tenants with changing housing 
needs in relation to household size could be met more quickly.  In addition, 
the County Highway Authority had advised that, as the only change had been 
to vary the timing of the contributions, it was happy for this deed of variation to 
be progressed. 

 
RESOLVED:   That the request to vary the existing Section 106 
agreement with a deed of variation, as outlined in the Head of 
Planning’s Report No. PLN1537 (as amended) be agreed, subject to 
the costs of Rushmoor Borough Council and Hampshire County 
Council being paid by the applicant. 
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 7.55 p.m. 
 

 
 

G.B. LYON 
CHAIRMAN 

 
---------- 

Pack Page 35



 

 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
22ND JULY 2015 

 
APPENDIX “A” 

 
 
Application No. 
& Date Valid: 
 

15/00322/FULPP 
 

2nd May 2015 
 

Proposal: Retention and completion  of a two-storey three bedroom 
detached dwelling house with accommodation in roof space and 
detached garage (variation of house type on Plot 6 approved 
under planning permission 07/00018/FULPP dated 09 March 
2007) at 6 Samson Close Aldershot Hampshire  
 

Applicant: Mr. S. Sandhu 
 
 
Conditions: 
 

 
 
 1 The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until 

the garaging/off-street parking facilities shown on the 
approved plans have been provided and made available 
to the occupiers of the dwelling.  The garage and parking 
spaces shall be retained for parking purposes thereafter 
and shall not be used for the storage of caravans, boats 
or trailers. 

   
 Reason - To ensure that adequate off-street parking is 

available for the development. 
 
 2 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 2015, 
(or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no 
development falling within Classes A, B, C, D, E and F of 
Part 1 of Schedule 2 shall be carried out. 

   
 Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can 

properly consider the effect of any future proposals on 
the character and amenity of the locality. 

 
 3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 2015, 
(or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no 
development falling within Classes A, B, C, D, E and F of 
Part 1 of Schedule 2 shall be carried out. 

   
 Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can 

properly consider the effect of any future proposals on 
the character and amenity of the locality. 

 
 

Pack Page 36



 

 

 
 4 Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted 

plans, the windows and roof lights in the north eastern  
elevation shall be obscure glazed in their entirety, and 
any opening sections or toplights  shall have a minimum 
cill height of 1.7m above the internal floor level. 

   
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring 

residential properties. 
 
 5 Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 

the permission hereby granted shall be completed and 
retained in accordance with the following approved 
drawings. 

  
 130-2014-P6-01s, 130-2014-P6-02 and 01 
  
 Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in 

accordance with the permission granted 
 

 
 
 

Pack Page 37



 

Q/116 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
 COMMITTEE  
 

 Meeting held on Wednesday, 19th August, 2015 at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough at 7.00 p.m. 
 
Voting Members 
  a  Cr. G.B. Lyon (Chairman) 

Cr. B.A. Thomas (Vice-Chairman) (In the Chair)  
   

 
 

Cr. D.B. Bedford 
Cr. D.M.T. Bell 
Cr. R. Cooper 

 
 

 a 
 

Cr. P.I.C. Crerar 
Cr. Sue Dibble 
Cr. Jennifer Evans 
 

 
 
 

Cr. D. Gladstone 
Cr. C.P. Grattan 
Cr. J.H. Marsh 

*Cr. S.J. Masterson 
*Cr. P.F. Rust 

 
Non-Voting Member 

 
 Cr. R.L.G. Dibbs (Cabinet Member for Service and Delivery) (ex officio) 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cr. Jennifer Evans 

and the Chairman, Cr. G.B. Lyon. 
 
* Cr. S.J. Masterson attended as standing deputy in place of Cr. G.B. 

Lyon and Cr. P.F. Rust attended as standing deputy in place of Cr. Jennifer 
Evans.   

 
In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman (Cr. B.A. Thomas), 

took the Chair. 
 

137. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – 
 

Having regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct, the following 
declarations of interests were made.  Those Members with a disclosable 
pecuniary interest left the meeting during the debate on the relevant agenda 
items: 

 
Member Application No. and 

Address 
 

Interest Reason 

Cr. J.H. Marsh 
 

15/00389/FULPP  
(Jenner House, No. 
159 Cove Road, 
Farnborough) 

Prejudicial The application site 
is Cr. Marsh’s 
doctor’s surgery 
where he is 
registered as a 
patient and would 
benefit from the 

Pack Page 38



 

Q/117 

improvements to the 
surgery. 

 
Cr. C.P. 
Grattan 

 
15/00389/FULPP  
(Jenner House, No. 
159 Cove Road, 
Farnborough) 

 
Prejudicial 

 
Cr. C.P. Grattan is 
registered as a 
patient at this 
surgery and would 
benefit in the 
improvements to the 
premises. 

 
138. MINUTES –   
 

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 22nd July, 2015 were approved 
and signed by the Chairman. 

 
139. TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT, 1990 (AS AMENDED) -  

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL DEVELOPMENT 
PROCEDURE) ORDER, 1995 - 
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS GENERALLY – 
 

RESOLVED: That 
 
(i) permission be given for the following applications set out in 

Appendix “A” attached hereto, subject to the conditions, 
restrictions and prohibitions (if any) mentioned therein: 
 

* 15/00339/FULPP (Nos. 37 to 41 Cross Street and Nos. 59 – 
61a Southampton Street, Farnborough) 

* 15/00389/FULPP (Jenner House, No. 159 Cove Road, 
Farnborough) 

15/00487/FULPP (SBAC Exhibition Area, ETPS Road, 
Farnborough); 

 
(ii) the applications dealt with by the Head of Planning, where 

necessary in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, more particularly specified 
in Section “D” of the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1538, 
be noted; and 
 

(iii) the current position with regard to the following applications be 
noted pending consideration at a future meeting: 

 
 15/00427/FULPP (No. 177 Ash Road, Aldershot) 
 15/00475/FULPP (The Queen’s Head, No. 97 North Lane, 

Aldershot) 
 15/00548/FUL (St. Joseph’s Roman Catholic Primary 

School, Bridge Road, Aldershot). 
 

Pack Page 39



 

Q/118 

* The Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1538 in respect of these 
applications was amended at the meeting. 

 

140. REPRESENTATIONS BY THE PUBLIC – 
 

In accordance with the guidelines for public participation at meetings, 
the following representations were made to the Committee and were duly 
considered before a decision was reached: 

 

Application No. Address Representation In support of 
or against the 
application 

15/00389/FULPP 
 
 

(Jenner House, No. 
159 Cove Road, 
Farnborough) 
 

Mr. T. Hardy 
 
Mr. R. Adams 
 

Against 
 
In support 

141. ENFORCEMENT AND POSSIBLE UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT – 
LAND ADJACENT TO NO. 11 FINTRY WALK, FARNBOROUGH – 
 

The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1540 
regarding a change of use of land from public amenity land to that of a private 
residential garden by the erection of a close board fence at No. 11 Fintry 
Walk, Farnborough. 

 
A complaint had been received in May, 2015 claiming that a 1.8 metre 

fence had been erected by the owner of No. 11 Fintry Walk, enclosing open 
land and changing its use to private residential garden land.  Visits to the site 
had confirmed that a 1.8 to 2 metre high close board fence had been erected 
on land adjacent to No. 11 Fintry Walk.  The enclosure of the land had 
resulted in the change of use of land to private residential garden.  Land 
Registry records had indicated that the land was registered to Hughes and 
Rogers Limited, which was likely to have been the previous developer of the 
estate and had since dissolved.    A letter had been sent to the owner of No. 
11 Fintry Walk advising that the change of use of land and the erection of a 
fence in excess of one metre high adjacent to the highway required planning 
permission.  Subsequent site visits had revealed that the fence still remained 
and the owner had failed to respond to further requests to cease the breach in 
planning control. 

 
The Committee was informed that the main issues were the principle of 

the change of use and the visual impact and highway safety implications.  It 
was highlighted that the Council’s Core Strategy Policy CP12 recognised the 
important role that amenity land played within the street scene and that loss of 
amenity land was resisted by the Council.  The principle of the development 
was therefore unacceptable in planning terms.  With regard to the visual 
impact, the enclosure by fence and loss of land to the general streetscape 
had a detrimental impact on the setting of the property and overall character 
of the area and could well set a precedent.  This was contrary to the 
objectives of Core Strategy Policy CP12 and Saved Local Plan Policy ENV17.  
Concerning highway safety the Council’s Transportation Strategy Officer had 

Pack Page 40



 

Q/119 

raised concerns about the positioning of the fence towards the rear of the site, 
adjacent to the garages and parking space which took access from Pennine 
Way.  In order to maintain a suitable visibility splay and to prevent conflict with 
vehicles and pedestrians, the fence would need to be reduced to a height of 
one metre.  

 
It was therefore considered that the unauthorised fencing and 

associated change of use of land was considered unacceptable in principle, 
would result in significant harm to the visual character of the area and would 
be likely to harm highway safety.    

  
RESOLVED:  That the Council issue an Enforcement Notice requiring 
removal of the unauthorised fencing with a period of one month for 
compliance for the following reasons: 
 
(i) the enclosure of open amenity land with close boarded fencing 

is detrimental to the character and visual appearance of the 
street scene and the surrounding area; and 

 
(ii) the unauthorised fencing, by virtue of its height and location 

gives rise to restricted sight lines and consequent potential 
conflict between users of the highway and footway, and vehicles 
entering or leaving the adjacent parking area to the detriment of 
highway safety. 

 
142. PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT) SUMMARY REPORT FOR 

THE QUARTER 1ST APRIL – 30TH JUNE, 2015 – 
 

The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1541 
which provided an update on the position with respect to achieving 
performance indicators for the Development Management Section of Planning 
and the overall workload of the Section for the period 1st April to 30th June, 
2015. 

 
The Development Manager provided a further update in relation to 

changes made by the Government to the national planning guidance 
regarding the use of Section 106 contributions from small sites (of ten 
dwellings or less) and the application of vacant building credits in relation to 
seeking affordable housing when vacant buildings were re-used or 
redeveloped. 

 
The Committee was reminded that, at the time of the previous report in 

February, 2015, a High Court Challenge had been underway against the 
Ministerial Statement introducing the changes.  The challenge had been 
spearheaded by Reading and West Berkshire Councils.  On 10th February 
the Cabinet had agreed that, until the outcome of the legal challenge was 
known: 

 

Pack Page 41



 

Q/120 

(i) the current approach of seeking infrastructure contributions from 
residential developments of less than ten dwellings would be 
continued and, subject to the agreement of Hampshire County 
Council, any monies from such schemes would be protected; 

 
(ii) any income towards open space, transport or other obligations 

arising from schemes of less than ten dwellings would be 
protected; 

 
(iii) the vacant building credit guidance would not be applied to the 

national planning guidance changes and that officers would 
determine a way forward so that any changes to the affordable 
housing requirement could be made to permitted schemes, 
should the national guidance changes on the vacant building 
credit be found to be legally compliant; and 

 
(iv) a contribution of £2,000 would be made to assist in the collective 

legal challenge. 
 
The Committee was informed that the local authorities had been 

successful in their legal challenge but the Government had since appealed 
the decision.   A further update would be provided to the Committee in due 
course and in the meantime the Council would continue in accordance with 
the actions agreed by the Cabinet as set out above. 

 
RESOLVED:  That the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1541 be 
noted. 
 

143. APPEALS PROGRESS REPORT – 
 

The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1542 
concerning the following new appeals: 

 
Application No. Description 
  
15/00008/COUPP Against the Council’s decision to refuse planning 

permission for the change of use of the ground floor 
from Use Class A1 (retail) to Use Class A2 (betting 
office) at Nos. 60 – 62 Union Street, Aldershot.  The 
appeal would be dealt with by way of the written 
representations procedure. 
 

15/00094/FULPP 
 
 

Against the Council’s decision to refuse planning 
permission for the erection of five dwellings (two two-
bedrooms and three three-bedrooms) with associated 
access parking and landscaping at land to the rear of 
Nos. 87 – 97 Rectory Road, Farnborough.  The appeal 
would be dealt with by way of the written representations 
procedure. 
 

Pack Page 42



 

Q/121 

RESOLVED: That the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1542 be 
noted. 
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 7.50 p.m. 

 
 
 

B.A. THOMAS 
VICE-CHAIRMAN 

 
 

---------- 

Pack Page 43



 

 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
19TH AUGUST 2015 

 
APPENDIX “A” 

 
 
Application No. 
& Date Valid: 
 

15/00339/FULPP 
 

8th May 2015 
 

Proposal: Erection of two pairs of semi-detached houses comprising two 
3-bedroom and two 2-bedroom units following demolition of the 
existing garages at Development At Land Rear Of 37 To 41 
Cross Street And 59 - 61A Southampton Street 
Farnborough Hampshire 
 

Applicant: Mr Rodney Raggett 
 
Conditions: 
 

 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before 

the expiration of one year from the date of this 
permission.  

  
 Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to 
reflect the objectives of the Council's Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance and Mitigation 
Strategy as amended July 2014 and to accord with the 
resolution of Rushmoor's Cabinet on 17 June 2014 in 
respect of Planning Report no PLN1420. 

 
 2 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 2015, 
(or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no 
development falling within Classes A, B & C of Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 shall be carried out without the prior 
permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring 

residential properties and to prevent adverse impact on 
traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 44



 

 

 3 Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, 
all the parking spaces shown on the approved plans shall 
be completed and made available only for the parking of 
vehicles ancillary and incidental to the residential use of 
the existing and proposed dwellings on the site. These 
spaces shall be kept available at all times for parking and 
shall not be used for the storage of Caravans, boats or 
trailers. 

   
 Reason - To safeguard residential amenity and ensure 

the provision and availability of adequate off-street 
parking. 

 
 4 No works shall start on site until a schedule and/or 

samples of the external materials to be used in the 
development have been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
Development shall be completed and retained in 
accordance with the details so approved. 

  
 Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance.* 
 
 5 No works shall start on site until a schedule and/or 

samples of surfacing materials, including those to access 
driveways/forecourts to be used in the development have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be completed 
and retained in accordance with the details so approved 

  
 Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance 

and drainage arrangements.*   
 
 6 No works shall start on site until details of all screen and 

boundary walls, fences, hedges or other means of 
enclosure have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be completed and retained in accordance with the 
details so approved. 

  
 Reason - To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring 

property.* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 45



 

 

 7 Construction or demolition work of any sort within the 
area covered by the application shall only take place 
between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays 
and 0800-1300 on Saturdays.  No work at all shall take 
place on Sundays and Bank or Statutory Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring 

residential properties and to prevent adverse impact on 
traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity. 

 
 8 No works shall start on site until a fully detailed landscape 

and planting scheme (to include, where appropriate, both 
landscape planting and ecological enhancement) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason - To ensure the development makes an 

adequate contribution to visual amenity.* 
 
 9 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved 

details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first 
planting and seeding season following the occupation of 
the buildings or the practical completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner. 

  
 Reason -To ensure the development makes an adequate 

contribution to visual amenity. 
 
10 With the exception of any trees specifically shown on the 

approved plans to be felled, or as may be otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no tree, 
or hedge within the application site shall be lopped, 
topped, felled, destroyed or damaged. 

  
 Reason - To preserve the amenity value of the tree(s)and 

shrubs. 
 
11 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the following approved drawings -  
  
 Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in 

accordance with the permission granted 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 46



 

 

12 Prior to the commencement of development details of the 
cycle store, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details as may be 
approved shall be implemented in full prior to the first 
occupation of the dwelling and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure satisfactory cycle storage 

arrangement.* 
 
13 Prior to the commencement of development, and 

notwithstanding any details submitted with the 
application, details of measures to achieve the energy 
performance standards in accordance with Code Level 4 
for Sustainable Homes or equivalent shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Such details as may be approved shall be 
implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the 
dwelling to which they relate and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP3 of the 

Rushmoor Core Strategy 
 
14 Prior to the commencement of development details of 

measures to incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SUDS) into the development or suitable alternative 
drainage strategy shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details as 
may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the 
first occupation of the dwelling and retained in perpetuity. 

                                                                             
 Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP4 of the 

Rushmoor Core Strategy _ 
 

Application No. 
& Date Valid: 
 

15/00389/FULPP 
 

28th May 2015 
 

Proposal: Installation of dormer extension and velux windows within 
roofscape to facilitate the conversion of the second floor into 
additional office/storage accommodation with associated 
internal alterations, reconfiguration of existing car parking layout 
to include the creation of an additional parking space/cycle 
parking and retention of car park lighting. at Jenner House  159 
Cove Road Farnborough Hampshire 
 

Applicant: Jenner House Surgery 
 
Conditions: 
 

 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before 

the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission.  

  

Pack Page 47



 

 

 Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 
 2 The dormer extension hereby permitted shall be finished 

in materials of the same colour and type as those of the 
existing roof.The development shall be completed and 
retained in accordance with the details so approved. 

  
 Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance.  
 
 3 The parking spaces shown on the approved plan shall be 

made available for use prior to the first occupation of the 
development and shall not thereafter be used for any 
purpose other than the parking of vehicles. 

  
 Reason -  To ensure the provision of on-site parking 

accommodation. 
 
 4 With the exception of the top fanlights, the windows in the 

west roof plan shall be obscure glazed in their entirety 
and fixed closed with the exception of opening toplights 
as shown on drawing number E&P/008. 

    
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring 

residential properties. 
 
 5 Construction or demolition work of any sort within the 

area covered by the application shall only take place 
between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays 
and 0800-1300 on Saturdays.  No work at all shall take 
place on Sundays and Bank or Statutory Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring 

residential properties and to prevent adverse impact on 
traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity. 

 
 6 With the exception of those rooms shown on the 

approved plans, there shall be no increase in medical 
treatment rooms.  In the interests of clarity this means 
treatment, examination and clinic rooms and doctors 
surgeries. 

  
 Reason - To ensure acceptable levels of car parking are 

provided to serve the building. 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 48



 

 

 7 No building materials shall be stored during the 
construction period within the rooting zones of the trees 
located along the western site boundary. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that existing trees are adequately 

protected and to preserve their amenity value. 
 
 8 The velux windows in the east roof plan as shown on 

drawing number E_P/008 shall be completed in obscure 
glazing. 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring 

residential properties. 
 
 9 No trees along the western site boundary within the 

application site shall be lopped, topped, felled, destroyed 
or damaged. 

  
 Reason - To preserve the amenity value of existing trees 

and in the interests of visual and residential amenity 
 
10 Prior to the laying of any new surfacing, details of the 

surfacing materials to be used shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be completed and retained in 
accordance with the details so approved 

  
 Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance 

and drainage arrangements.*   
 
11 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the following approved drawings - E _ 
P/001, 002, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 010, 011, 
012, 013 and 014 

  
 Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in 

accordance with the permission granted 
 

Application No. 
& Date Valid: 
 

15/00487/FULPP 
 

2nd July 2015 
 

Proposal: Erection of a semi-permanent chalet accommodation and 
associated first floor pedestrian bridge to be used in connection 
with the biennial Farnborough International Airshow for a 
temporary period up to and including 2030 at Lockheed Martin 
Chalet SBAC Exhibition Area ETPS Road Farnborough 
 

Applicant: ADS Group Limited 
 
 

 
 

Pack Page 49



 

 

Conditions: 
 

 1 The structures hereby permitted shall be removed and 
the land restored to its former condition on or before 31st 
December 2030. 

   
 Reason - To accord with the terms of the applciaiotn and 

given the impact of the character and appearance of the 
structure, reconsideration  in the light of prevailing 
circumstances at the end of the specified period would be 
appropriate in the interest of amenity.   

 
 2 The structures hereby permitted shall be used for the 

duration of, and in connection with, the biennial 
Farnborough International Airshow and for no other 
purpose without the prior permission in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. 

    
 Reason - To ensure a satisfactory approach to the use 

and development of the site and its impact on the 
surrounding area.   

   
 
 3 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the following approved drawings - 
158901T/AL-P01, 158901T/AL-P02/A, 
158901T/AL-P003/B, 158901T/AL-P004/B, 
158901T/AL-P005/A, 158901T/AL-P006/C, 
158901T/AL-P007/B, 158901T/AL-P008/E, 
158901T/AL-P009/B, 158901T/AL-P010/B, 
158901T/AL-P011/B, 158901T/AL-P012/B & 
158901T/AL-P013/B 

  
 Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in 

accordance with the permission granted 
 

 
 

Pack Page 50



 

Q/122 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
 COMMITTEE  
  

 Meeting held on Wednesday, 16th September, 2015 at the Council 
Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 p.m. 
 
Voting Members 
    Cr. G.B. Lyon (Chairman) 

Cr. B.A. Thomas (Vice-Chairman)  
   

 
 
a 

Cr. D.B. Bedford 
Cr. D.M.T. Bell 
Cr. R. Cooper 

a 
 

a 
 

Cr. P.I.C. Crerar 
Cr. Sue Dibble 
Cr. Jennifer Evans 
 

 
 
 

Cr. D. Gladstone 
Cr. C.P. Grattan 
Cr. J.H. Marsh 

* Cr. S.J. Masterson 
* Cr. P.F. Rust 

 
Non-Voting Member 

 
 Cr. R.L.G. Dibbs (Cabinet Member for Service and Delivery) (ex officio) 
 

*Cr. S.J. Masterson attended as standing deputy in place of Cr. Rod Cooper 
and Cr. P.F. Rust attended as standing deputy in place of Cr. Jennifer Evans.   

 
Cr. D. Gladstone arrived at 7.20 p.m. during the discussion on Planning 

Application No. 15/00475/FULPP (The Queen’s Head, No. 97 North Lane, 
Aldershot) and did not vote on this or the previous item. 

 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Crs. R. Cooper, 

P.I.C. Crerar and Jennifer Evans.   
 

144. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – 
 

Having regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct, the following 
declarations of interests were made.  Those Members with a disclosable 
pecuniary interest left the meeting during the debate on the relevant agenda 
items: 

 
Member Application No. and 

Address 
 

Interest Reason 

Cr. G.B. Lyon 1500475/FULPP  
(The Queen’s Head, 
No. 97 North Lane,  
Aldershot) 
 

Personal Member of the 
Campaign for Real 
Ale. 

 

Pack Page 51



 

Q/123 

Cr. J.H. Marsh 
 

15/00606/FULPP  
(31 – 33 Queen’s 
Road and No. 62 
Peabody Road, 
Farnborough) 
 

Prejudicial Friend of the owner 
of the site/applicant 
and had spoken to 
the applicant about 
this application. 
 

Cr. B.A. 
Thomas 

1500475/FULPP  
(The Queen’s Head, 
No. 97 North Lane,  
Aldershot) 
 

Prejudicial Ran a public house 
within a mile of the 
application 
premises. 

Cr. P.F. Rust 1500475/FULPP  
(The Queen’s Head, 
No. 97 North Lane,  
Aldershot) 

Personal Member of the  
Campaign for Real 
Ale. 

 
145. MINUTES –   
 

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 19th August, 2015 were approved 
and signed by the Chairman. 

 
146. TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT, 1990 (AS AMENDED) -  

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL DEVELOPMENT 
PROCEDURE) ORDER, 1995 - 
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS GENERALLY – 
 

RESOLVED: That 
 
(i) planning permission/consent be refused in respect of the 

following application and as set out in Appendix “A” attached 
hereto  for the reasons mentioned therein: 

 
* 15/00475/FULPP (The Queen’s Head, No. 97 North Lane, 

Aldershot); 
 

(ii) the applications dealt with by the Head of Planning, where 
necessary in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, more particularly specified 
in Section “D” of the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1544, 
be noted; 
  

(iii) the following application be determined by the Head of Planning, 
in consultation with the Chairman: 

 
15/00562/FULPP (The Old Mint, Pound Road, Aldershot); 

and 
 

(iv) the current position with regard to the following application be 
noted pending consideration at a future meeting: 

 

Pack Page 52



 

Q/124 

 15/00606/FULPP (Nos. 31 – 33 Queen’s Road – No. 62 
Peabody Road, Farnborough). 

 
* The Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1544 in respect of this 

application was amended at the meeting. 
 

147. REPRESENTATIONS BY THE PUBLIC – 
 

In accordance with the guidelines for public participation at meetings, 
the following representations were made to the Committee and were duly 
considered before a decision was reached: 

 

Application No. Address Representation In support of 
or against the 
application 

15/00475/FULPP 
 
 

(The Queen’s 
Head, No. 97 North 
Lane, Aldershot) 
 

Mr. J. Coll 
 
Ms. R. Haines 
 

Against 
 
In support 

148. APPLICATION NO. 15/00462/FULPP – THE OLD MINT, POUND ROAD, 
ALDERSHOT – 
 

The Committee considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. 
PLN1544 regarding the retention of two three-bedroom flats with associated 
works at The Old Mint, Pound Road, Aldershot.   

 
It was noted that the recommendation was to grant planning 

permission, subject to the completion of a satisfactory agreement under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990. 

 
RESOLVED:  That 
 
(i) subject to the completion of a satisfactory agreement under 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 by 
12th October, 2015 to secure an appropriate contribution 
towards Special Protection Area mitigation and open space, the 
Head of Planning in consultation with the Chairman, be 
authorised to grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions and informatives set out in the Head of Planning’s 
Report No. PLN1544; however 

 
(ii) in the event that a satisfactory Section 106 agreement is not 

received by 12th October, 2015, the Head of Planning, in 
consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to refuse planning 
permission on the grounds that the proposal fails to make 
provision for open space contrary to the provisions of Policy 
CP12 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and ‘saved’ Policy OR4 of 
the Rushmoor Local Plan Review 1996 – 2011; fails to provide 
mitigation for the impact of the development on the Thames 
Basin Heaths Special Protection Area in accordance with the 

Pack Page 53



 

Q/125 

Council’s Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy contrary to Policy CP13 of 
the Rushmoor Core Strategy; and does not provide appropriate 
car and cycle parking in accordance with the Council’s adopted 
car and cycle parking standards or make satisfactory provision 
for refuse storage as required by Saved Local Plan Policy 
ENV17 and Core Strategy Policies CP2 and CP17. 

 
149. ENFORCEMENT AND POSSIBLE UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT –  

 
(1) No. 177 Ash Road, Aldershot – 
 

The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1546 
regarding the unauthorised change of use of commercial space into 
residential accommodation at No. 177 Ash Road, Aldershot. 

 
It was reported that No. 177 Ash Road was a long-established hot food 

takeaway (Star Kebabs) located in the middle of the ground floor of the 
building.  To the east side of this was a sub-divided area of the building with 
lawful planning use as a separate hot food takeaway shop on the ground floor 
and with storage space above.  No. 177a Ash Road was located to the west 
side of Star Kebabs and was also understood to be in the same ownership 
and was currently in use as a hairdressers.  There was also a self-contained 
residential one-bedroom flat located on the first floor of the building, No. 177c.  
It was highlighted that there was limited on-site parking due to its position 
alongside the traffic-light junction of Ash Road, Lower Newport Road and 
Lower Farnham Road.     

 
Following complaints, an inspection had revealed that parts of the 

eastern takeaway premises were being occupied residentially, in the form of a 
pair of studio units on the ground floor and with a further flat in the ancillary 
storage space on the first floor.  The owner had submitted a planning 
application in June, 2015 which had been declared invalid due to material 
inaccuracies in the plans.  Although the applicant’s agent had advised that 
work was afoot to prepare corrected plans, this work had not, to date, been 
completed and no corrected plans had been submitted to the Council. 

 
The Committee was informed that the conversion of these premises 

would be considered acceptable in principle.  However, such conversions 
would only be granted planning permission, subject to conditions to secure 
and retain various provisions in the interests of the amenities of the area, the 
amenities of neighbours, highway safety etc.  In this case this would involve 
the provision, allocation and retention of parking spaces, and provision and 
retention of bin storage.  This had not been possible in the configuration of 
this site and the unauthorised development in question because there had 
been no means to impose the requisite conditions to render the proposals 
acceptable in planning terms. 

 
In addition, none of the usual Section 106 financial contributions had 

been secured, most notably the contribution for special protection area 

Pack Page 54



 

Q/126 

mitigation and avoidance.  This was considered fundamentally unacceptable 
and in conflict with the Habitats Regulations, Government Planning Policy and 
Guidance and adopted Development Plan Policy.  It was also considered that 
there would have been a requirement for a public open space contribution in 
this case.  These matters were therefore considered to be grounds for serving 
an Enforcement Notice. 

 
RESOLVED:  That an Enforcement Notice be served requiring the 
cessation of the unauthorised material change of use of the land for 
residential use with a period of six months for compliance for the 
following reasons: 
 
(i) the unauthorised development intensifies the use of the property 

and is provided with inadequate and unsatisfactory on-site 
parking to meet its functional needs in the vicinity of limited on-
street parking opportunities; the proposed residential 
development would thereby be likely to attract indiscriminate, 
dangerous and obstructive parking in the streets nearby, to the 
detriment of the safety and convenience of highway users and  
would thereby be unacceptable, contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework and adopted Rushmoor Core 
Strategy Policies CP2 and CP16; 

 
(ii) the unauthorised development is provided with inadequate 

facilities for the on-site storage of refuse to the detriment of the 
visual amenities of the area and the living environment of 
occupiers contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy 
CP2;  

 
(iii) the proposal fails to make provision for an appropriate Special 

Protection Area Mitigation and Avoidance contribution towards 
the Hawley Meadows suitable accessible natural green space, 
or strategic access management measures in order to address 
the impact of the proposed development upon the nature 
conservation interest and objectives of the Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area;  the proposal is thereby 
contrary to the requirements of Policies CP13 and CP15 of the 
Rushmoor Core Strategy adopted in October, 2011; and 

 
(iv) the proposals do not make provision for public open space in 

accordance with the requirements of Policies CP11 and CP12 of 
the Rushmoor Core Strategy adopted October, 2011, saved 
Local Plan Policies OR4 and Or4.1 and the Council’s continuing 
Interim Advice Note (dated August, 2000 and updated July, 
2006) “Financial Contributions towards Provision of Open Space 
in Association with New Housing Development”. 

 

Pack Page 55



 

Q/127 

(2) No. 19 Whittle Crescent, Farnborough – 
 
 The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1546 
regarding the erection of a single storey rear extension at No. 19 Whittle 
Crescent, Farnborough. 
 
 It was reported that it had come to the Council’s attention that a single 
storey rear extension had been built measuring 3.7 metres from the original 
rear wall of the home.  The extension would have required planning 
permission as it was 700 mm greater than the permitted development 
tolerance for this type of property, as set out in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of 
the general Permitted Development Order, 2015.  The owner’s response to 
contact had been that they were not in a position to submit a formal planning 
application. 
 
 On considering the matter, it was felt that the extension did not cause 
any significant material harm to the visual character of the area, to the 
amenities of the neighbours or to highway safety. Had a planning application 
been submitted, it would have received a recommendation that permission be 
granted.  Therefore, in accordance with Policies CP2 and CP16 of the Core 
Strategy and saved Policy ENV17 and H15 of the Rushmoor Local Plan, it 
was considered neither expedient or reasonable for the Council to take 
enforcement action in respect of the breach of planning control in this case. 
 
 RESOLVED:  That no further action be taken. 
 

150. MOUNTBATTEN COURT, BIRCHETT ROAD, ALDERSHOT – SECTION 52 
LEGAL AGREEMENT – 

 
The Committee considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. 

PLN1547 (as amended at the meeting) which sought approval to relax a 
clause in a legal agreement which restricted the age of the occupiers of flats 
in Mountbatten Court, Birchett Road, Aldershot. 

 
The Committee was informed that the owners of Flat No. 5 

Mountbatten Court had written to the Council requesting a relaxation of the 
clause because the age restriction had been causing problems with the sale 
of the flat.   

 
Planning permission had been granted for the erection of a three-

storey block of seventeen two-bedroom flats and nine one-bedroom flats in 
August, 1987.  At the time, parking standards had been considerably higher 
and based on minimum standards.  The developer had provided less than the 
full requirement on the basis that the flats would be for the elderly.  A clause 
in the legal agreement had therefore been drawn up under Section 52 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act, 1971 which required that the sixteen flats on 
the ground and first floors should be occupied by at least one person of 
pensionable age.   

 

Pack Page 56



 

Q/128 

Following consultation with the residents of Mountbatten Court, one 
letter had been received from the executors of the late owner of Flat No. 13 
who had indicated that they had no objections in respect of the request from 
the owners of Flat No. 5 and, in addition, making their own request for non-
enforcement in respect of Flat No. 13.  Another letter had subsequently been 
received from the managing agents for the Mountbatten Court Management 
Company, who confirmed that they were in support of the Council not 
enforcing the terms of the Legal Agreement in terms of the age restriction of 
occupiers.   

 
It was also noted that none of the age-restricted flats at Mountbatten 

Court had been designed to current mobility standards and the age restriction 
had only been imposed because the developer had been unable to provide 
enough parking on the site for the development.  Since planning permission 
had been granted, the Council’s parking requirements had changed 
significantly in response to changes in Government planning guidance.  The 
parking standards applicable to residential development did not now make 
any distinction in terms of parking requirements between general purpose 
flats and those restricted to residents of pensionable age.  The only 
reductions in parking requirements available for residential development now 
related to sheltered housing establishments providing care to much less 
mobile residents.  Furthermore, current Government guidance and the 
Council’s adopted parking requirements allowed for significant reductions in 
parking provision in town centre locations. 

 
On considering the above, the Committee agreed that retention of the 

age restriction would no longer serve a planning purpose.  In addition, the 
approach had previously been agreed for other flats in the development, the 
most recent being Flat No. 10 in November, 2013.  Similar age-restricted flats 
in Phoenix Court had also been subject to requests for relaxations and had 
been allowed by the Council.  In the circumstances, it was therefore felt that 
the Council should not seek to enforce the terms of the legal agreement in 
respect of Flat Nos. 5 and 13 Mountbatten Court.   

 
RESOLVED:  That the Solicitor to the Council be authorised to advise 
the persons making the above request that the Council is minded not to 
enforce the terms of the Section 52 Agreement in respect of Flat Nos. 5 
and 13 and that they be invited to enter into a Deed of Release, upon 
payment of the Council’s legal costs, to release the property from the 
terms of the Section 52 Agreement.. 
 

151. HAM AND BLACKBIRD, NO. 281 FARNBOROUGH ROAD, 
FARNBOROUGH – 
 

The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1548 
which requested authority for the Council to complete a Section 106 legal 
agreement in relation to the Ham and Blackbird site at No. 281 Farnborough 
Road, Farnborough.  

 

Pack Page 57



 

Q/129 

The Committee was reminded that permission had been refused by the 
Development Management Committee in January, 2015 for the demolition 
and redevelopment of the Ham and Blackbird site at No. 281 Farnborough 
Road.  Permission had been refused for reasons relating to the impact of 
traffic movement on highway safety and the local network, failure to secure 
Section 106 contributions (towards special area protection mitigation and 
public open space) and failure to provide appropriate provision of affordable 
housing (as set out in full in the Head of Planning’s Report).    

 
The applicants had subsequently lodged an appeal which was due to 

be heard on 9th December, 2015 and the Committee was advised that, in 
preparation for the appeal, the applicants and the Council would need to 
prepare a ‘Statement of Common Ground’ to identify to the Inspector those 
issues on which there was no dispute.  The applicants had indicated that they 
intended to submit a draft Section 106 agreement to the Inspector at the 
hearing in order to address the reasons for refusal that related to failure to 
secure Section 106 contributions.   

 
In respect of the failure of the proposal to provide affordable housing, 

the applicants had agreed to make provision to meet the Council’s 
requirement in full (22 units (35%) of the total number of units).  In this respect 
the applicants were proposing that eleven affordable units would be provided 
in the scheme and, at the request of the Head of Environmental Health and 
Housing, a financial contribution would be secured equivalent to the cost to 
the developer of providing the remaining eleven units within the scheme.  This 
would provide affordable housing off-site that would be more appropriate to 
meeting local housing needs.  Although subject to discussion relating to the 
value of the contribution, should agreement be reached on this matter, this 
financial contribution would also need to be secured by the Section 106 
agreement. 

 
The applicants had approached the Solicitor to the Council to request 

that work be undertaken with the Council to produce a draft Section 106 
Agreement seeking to address the Reasons for Refusal Nos. 2, 3 and 4.  
Authority was therefore being sought from the Development Management 
Committee for the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Solicitor to the 
Council to prepare the necessary draft Section 106 Agreement to address 
these matters. 

 
The Committee was assured that this work would not affect the 

Council’s position in relation to Reason for Refusal No. 1 as set out in the 
Head of Planning’s Report, but would remove the need for the Council to 
defend Reason for Refusal Nos. 2, 3 and 4 at the forthcoming appeal hearing. 

 
RESOLVED:  That the Head of Planning, in consultation with the 
Solicitor to the Council, be authorised to complete a legal agreement to 
address the impacts of the development as identified in Reasons for 
Refusal Nos. 2, 3 and 4 as set out in detail in Report No. PLN1501 
considered by the Development Management Committee on 7th 
January, 2015. 

Pack Page 58



 

Q/130 

152. APPEALS PROGRESS REPORT – 
 

The Committee received the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1549 
concerning the following new appeal: 

 
Application No. Description 
  
14/00956/EDCPP Against the Council’s decision to refuse an application 

for a Certificate of Lawful Existing Use as a single 
dwelling at 35A Camp Road, Farnborough.  The appeal 
would be dealt with by way of the written procedure. 
 

RESOLVED: That the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1549 be 
noted. 
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 8.15 p.m. 
 
 

 
G.B. LYON 

CHAIRMAN 
 

---------- 

Pack Page 59



 

 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
16TH SEPTEMBER 2015 

 
APPENDIX “A” 

 
 
Application No. 
& Date Valid: 
 

15/00475/FULPP 
 

26th June 2015 
 

Proposal: Demolition of existing public house and re-development of site 
with two pairs of 2-bedroom semi-detached houses on road 
frontage with new access between leading to a pair of 3-
bedroom semi-detached houses at rear of site (6 new 
dwellings in total), together with detached garages, parking 
spaces, turning area and associated landscaping at The 
Queens Head 97 North Lane Aldershot Hampshire 
 

Applicant: Mr G Boulden 
 
Reasons: 
 

 
 1 It has not been satisfactorily demonstrated that there is 

no longer term need for the Public House and that 
alternative Public Houses are readily accessible to meet 
the needs of the community in the vicinity in accordance 
with the requirements of the Council's "Development 
Affecting Public Houses" Supplementary Planning 
Document formally adopted by the Council's Cabinet on 
2 June 2015. The proposed development would thereby 
result in the unjustified loss of a community facility 
contrary to Government Planning Policy and Guidance 
and also Policy CP10 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy 
(November 2011). 

 
 2 The proposal fails to make provision for an appropriate 

Special Protection Area Mitigation and Avoidance 
contribution towards the Hawley Meadows suitable 
accessible natural green space, or strategic access 
management measures in order to address the impact 
of the proposed development upon the nature 
conservation interest and objectives of the Thames 
Basin Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposal is 
thereby contrary to the requirements of Policies CP13 
and CP15 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy adopted 
October 2011. 

 
 3 The proposals do not make provision for public open 

space in accordance with the requirements of Policies 
CP11 and CP12 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy 
adopted October 2011, saved Local Plan Policies OR4 
and OR4.1; and the Council's continuing Interim Advice 
Note (dated August 2000 and updated July 2006) 
"Financial Contributions towards Provision of Open 
Space in Association with New Housing Development". 

 

Pack Page 60



 

Q/131 
 

LEISURE AND YOUTH 
POLICY AND REVIEW PANEL 

 

Meeting held on Monday, 7th September, 2015 at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough at 7.00 p.m.  

 
 Voting Members 

 

Cr. Liz Corps (Chairman) 
Cr. Mrs. D.B. Bedford (Vice-Chairman) 

 
a 

 
Cr. T.D. Bridgeman 
Cr. P.I.C. Crerar 
Cr. K. Dibble 

 
 
 

Cr. J.H. Marsh 
 

    
 
  

  

Cr. A.R. Newell 
Cr. M. Staplehurst 
Cr. B.A. Thomas 
 

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Cr. T.D. 

Bridgeman. 
 
153. MINUTES – 

 
 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 8th June, 2015 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

154. HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL – YOUTH CONSULTATION  -  
 
 The Panel welcomed Mr. Ian Langley, Youth Support Services Board 
Member of Hampshire County Council (HCC), who attended the meeting to 
report on the impending Youth Support Services consultation. Mr. Langley 
advised that a service consultation had been held in 2014 on the Youth 
Support Services, but this had not been completed. Subsequently, the 
Executive Lead Member had agreed that financial support for 2015/16 would 
remain unchanged with the majority of commissioned Youth Support Service 
providers receiving a twelve month extension to their grants. The new 
consultation would start in November 2015 and the period prior to the start 
date would be used to consult with district and borough councils and district 
groups to inform them of the requirements of the consultation. 
 
 It was noted that further savings needed to be achieved in 2016/17 
and the shape and delivery of Youth Support Services would need to 
undergo further transformation. However, it was important to ensure that 
vulnerable young people still received the service they required and HCC 
welcomed the views of what was considered important in each local area 
across the County. By consulting with district and borough councils, prior to 
the consultation, it was hoped that there would be no surprises when the 
consultation documents were released. In preparation, HCC needed to 
consider challenging the traditional ways of working, working together with 

Pack Page 61

Agenda Item 7



 

Q/132 
 

partners to offer the best possible service and to keep young people at the 
centre of its thinking.  
 
 The Panel was advised that engagement events had taken place with 
key stakeholders and providers in April 2015; following this, local 
engagement events had taken place in Hart/Rushmoor, East Hampshire, 
Havant, Fareham, Eastleigh, New Forest and Test Valley. In addition, 
discussions had been held with groups associated with the early help offer; 
these included children, young people and their families. Emerging themes 
from these discussions had been identified, including the need for frequent 
communication with the voluntary sector to give them sufficient notice to 
retain staff to deliver current services and to plan for any changes. It was 
also felt important to ensure focus on locality and the needs of the local 
providers; every area had different needs and requirements. 
 
 Mr. Langley reported that the next steps would be to continue the 
dialogue, and jointly consider the needs of each locality, identify any gaps 
and how they could be overcome. It was also important for each local 
authority to ask “what can we bring to the table?” Consideration would also 
need to be given to future delivery and commissioning models, examples of 
which could be: 
 

 a grants based model, 

 a third sector partner, or 

 to run something through the local Children’s Partnership, which in 
Rushmoor was a very active and productive group. 

 
 Members were asked to consider a number of things, for example; 
any groups that would benefit from advanced consultation on the review 
before the formal consultation began and any key issues, gaps and best 
practice in the locality. The Panel noted that the consultation would start in 
early November, 2015 with the outcomes to be reported on in March, 2016. 
 
 In response to a question, it was reported that the services to be 
reviewed covered children and young people aged 0-19. Most young people 
were referred to the services or attended through outreach projects and the 
emphasis had been on targeting the right young people with the reducing 
funds available. It was noted that the overall budget for Hampshire had been 
in the region of £1 million although the new proposed figure had yet to be 
determined. 
 
 A discussion was held on the pressures on the voluntary sector to 
provide services with less funding. Mr. Langley advised that a lot of work had 
been carried out in advance with organisations to pre-warn them of the 
proposed reductions and to allow them to start preparing for the future at this 
early stage. Partnership working and best practice had also been 
encouraged.  
 
         The Head of Community and Environmental Services agreed to 
circulate the presentation recently considered by the Rushmoor Local 

Pack Page 62



 

Q/133 
 

Children’s Partnership, which would help inform the Council’s response to 
the consultation. 
 
 The Panel noted that, locally, Rushmoor Voluntary Services had been 
part of a similar consultation process around Community Voluntary Services 
and was now working closely with similar organisations in both Hart and 
Basingstoke to provide improved value and achieve the savings required by 
HCC.  
 
 It was noted that Mr. Langley would keep the Panel informed on the 
progress of the consultation if required and further discussion on the way 
forward would be held at the next mid cycle meeting. 
 
 The Chairman thanked Mr. Langley for his presentation. 

 
155. ALDERSHOT LIDO UPDATE –  

 
 Mr. Peter Amies, Head of Community and Environmental Services, 
and Mr. Ashley Sharpe, Contracts Manager, attended the meeting to give the 
Panel an update on the Aldershot Lido Review. 
 
 The Panel was advised that the season had now finished and due to 
the poor weather over the summer months the number of visits (17,500) had 
dropped considerably in comparison to the previous two seasons (28,000 in 
2014 and 48,000 in 2013). The Council had offered a number of initiatives to 
increase usage for 2015; these included season tickets, loyalty schemes, 
military discount and discounted entrance from 3.30p.m (previously 
4.30p.m.). These initiatives had been advertised via social media, the press, 
in the town centres and via a video on Facebook. Mr. Amies advised that the 
Council had entered into a “risk and reward” contract with the contractor. 
However, in view of the low attendances, caused by weather conditions, it 
was likely that for 2015 the Council would have to increase its contribution 
towards the running cost of the facility. 
 
 Mr. Amies reported that before the season had started a number of 
improvements/refurbishments had been made to the facilities at the Lido. 
£11,000 had been spent upgrading the changing room facilities, £2,000 on 
new outdoor lockers and £1,000 on new picnic tables for the Café. Wi-Fi had 
also been provided in the grounds. 
 
 A snap shot of users postcodes showed a 60/40 split in favour of use 
by local residents. 
 
 The Panel was advised that the Friends of Aldershot Lido (FOAL) had 
applied to list the Lido as a place of historical and architectural value; it was 
noted that the application had been refused which was likely to make it more 
difficult to secure lottery funding. It was noted that the facility would continue 
to run in its current format until an alternative approach had been agreed by 
Members. The Task and Finish Group would continue its work in conjunction 
with FOAL and other interested parties to develop the best options for the 

Pack Page 63



 

Q/134 
 

future of the Lido. The next meeting of the Task and Finish Group was 
scheduled for 15th October, 2015. 
 
 The Panel discussed the report and commented on a number of 
points, in particular:  
 

 The links to the 1948 Olympic Games, especially as there would 
be Olympic games held in 2016, and how to use them to market 
the Lido 

 Market the season ticket and discount ticket options earlier as the 
timescales had been tight for the 2015 season 

 Continue the work to assess viability of the various options being 
considered by the Task and Finish Group with the aim to provide a 
more sustainable facility. 

 
            The Chairman thanked Mr. Amies and Mr. Sharpe and requested that 
 further reports would be made to the Panel as the work progressed. 
 
156. WORK PROGRAMME – 
 

  The Panel NOTED the current work programme, and was advised 
that the next meeting would be focus on the annual report on the Princes 
Hall and its working arrangements. 

 
 
 
 The meeting closed at 8.01 p.m.  

 
 
 

LIZ CORPS 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

 ---------- 

Pack Page 64



 

 
Q/135 

ENVIRONMENT POLICY AND 
REVIEW PANEL 

 
Meeting held on Tuesday, 8th September, 2015 at the Princes Hall, 

Aldershot at 7.00 p.m. 
 
Voting Members: 

Cr. D.E. Clifford (Chairman) 
Cr. Sophia Choudhary (Vice Chairman) 

 
  
 
 

Cr. M.S. Choudhary  
Cr. Sue Dibble 
Cr. D.S. Gladstone 
 

 
 
 

Cr. G.B. Lyon  
 
 

a  Cr. J.J. Preece 
Cr. L.A. Taylor 
Cr. D.M. Welch 

An apology for absence was submitted by Cr. J.J. Preece 
 

157. MINUTES – 
 
   The Minutes of the Meeting held on 9th June, 2015 were approved and 

signed by the Chairman. 
 
158. RECYCLING – IMPROVING PERFORMANCE –  

 
The Panel considered appointing a Task and Finish Group to look at 

improving the Borough’s recycling rate. 
 
Mr. James Duggin, Contracts Manager, explained that the Veolia 

Environmental Services contract was due to end in March, 2017 and, as part 
of the procurement process, the Cabinet had appointed a working group to 
consider various aspects of the contract, including improving recycling 
performance.  The Working Group had looked at various ideas for improving 
recycling which had included: 

 

 free garden waste collections; 

 incentives; 

 increasing the range of recyclable materials;  

 education;   

 the introduction of smaller residual waste bins; and  

 alternate weekly collections.   
 

The Working Group had been divided in opinion about alternate weekly 
collections and had recommended that the Cabinet consider the issue further.  
In considering the matter, the Cabinet had felt that a weekly collection of 
residual waste should be maintained. The current level of recycling was, 
however, of concern and it was agreed that the policy of reducing the size of 
residual waste bins over time should be continued.   

 

 

Pack Page 65



 

 
Q/136 

The Cabinet was also keen that additional ways of improving recycling 
levels should be investigated.  As recycling performance formed part of the 
remit of the Environment Panel, nominations were being sought for inclusion 
in a task and finish group to look at alternative approaches such as: 

 

 learning from best practice, guidance and authorities where 
alternate weekly collection had been introduced; 

 implementing behavioural change initiatives through education 
and incentive schemes; and 

 collecting a wider range of materials. 
 
The Panel AGREED that the Chairman (Cr. D.E. Clifford), G.B. Lyon 

and L.A. Taylor be appointed to the Recycling Task and Finish Group and 
requests for a further three Members would be sought from the remainder of 
the Council.   Members were informed that initial meetings of the Group would 
take place in early October, 2015 in line with the contract pre-procurement 
project, with a report back to the next meeting of the Panel. 

 
159. PUBLIC CONVENIENCES  - 

 
 The Panel received a presentation from Mr. James Duggin, Contracts 
Manager, which outlined the costs of providing public conveniences as well as 
the current approach to service provision being pursued under the negotiation 
process for securing a new contract. 
 

Mr. Duggin explained that there were eight public conveniences in the 
Borough which were currently managed under the Veolia contract.  The Panel 
was reminded that in September, 2008 Members had agreed to set up a task 
and finish group to look at service improvements/efficiencies.  The group had 
recommended that no facilities should be closed and that the Rectory Road 
and Cove Green facilities should be included in the capital programme for 
refurbishment.  In addition, the group had proposed a trial of temporary public 
conveniences in Aldershot town centre for six months. 

 
With regard to service costs, the Panel was informed that the estimated 

net revenue expenditure for 2015/16 was £205,050.  A small element of this 
related to organisational staffing costs, £30,000 were premises related and 
£166,000 would be paid to Veolia to open, close and clean the facilities and to 
deal with minor acts of vandalism.  The projected capital expenditure for 
2015/16 was estimated at £44,000 which would include the replacement of 
sanitary fittings at Manor Park and Aldershot Park toilets and the replacement 
of male public conveniences at Aldershot Bus Station. 

 
Members felt that the costs involved in maintaining the service were 

excessive and discussed the scope for removing public conveniences from 
the pre-contract negotiations.  In response Members were advised that toilet 
cleaning formed part of a basket of work for: 

 

Pack Page 66



 

 
Q/137 

 refuse and recycling collections; 

 street cleansing; 

 grounds maintenance; and 

 toilet cleaning. 
 

Following market testing, it had become clear that toilet cleaning fitted 
well within grounds management activities and it had appeared that cost 
reduction was likely across the board in view of the current market conditions.  
Furthermore, the overall price was reflective of the whole contract and some 
elements were more or less profitable than others.  It was explained that five 
of the eight public conveniences were situated in parks and potential 
contractors would want to manage any public conveniences in the vicinity.   

 
Further discussion took place on the Council’s capital investment in 

public conveniences and Members requested a breakdown of premises 
related costs.   

 
The Panel was of the view that Rushmoor should consider removing 

the three public conveniences not located in parks from the procurement 
process and AGREED to request Mr. Duggin to seek legal advice on the 
matter and to respond to the Panel in due course. 

 
160. UPDATE ON THE HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE OPENING 

HOURS – 
 

The Panel received an update from County Councillor M.S. Choudhary 
on the reasons for the County Council’s decision to reduce the County’s 
Household Waste Recycling Centre opening hours.  Cr. Choudhary informed 
the Panel that, as of 1st April, 2015, the County Council had approved a 
permanent change to the opening hours of all Household Waste Recycling 
Centres to: 

 
Winter:  (1st October – 28th February) – 9.00 a.m. – 4.00 p.m. 
Spring:  (1st March – 31st March) – 9.00 a.m. – 5.00 p.m. 
Summer (1st April – 30th September) – 9.00 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 
 
Cr. Choudhary explained that the reason for the decision had been to 

deliver cost savings from the Household Waste Recycling Centre 
management contract in order to contribute towards the County Council’s 
savings targets following a decision in principle to reduce opening hours taken 
by the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment in 
November, 2014.  Hampshire County Council had considered a number of 
other options but these had been rejected based on:  the negative impact on 
the day-to-day running of the centres, the number of site users that would be 
affected and the fact that they would not deliver the level of savings required 
to achieve the targets set for 2015.   

 
As a result of the changes problems had been reported by Members 

about long queues of traffic waiting to use the facilities, particularly at 
weekends.  The Panel was advised that a report would be considered by the 
Economy, Transport and Environment Select Committee at the County 

Pack Page 67



 

 
Q/138 

Council on 30th October, 2015 which would provide an impact assessment on 
the consequences of the decision. 

 
The Panel NOTED the update and that Cr. Choudhary would provide a 

further update at a future meeting. 
 

161. LITTER – 
 

The Panel received an update from Mr. James Duggin, Contracts 
Manager, on littering in the town centres and the approach that would be 
taken with regard to the issue under the competitive dialogue process for 
securing the new contract. 

 
It was explained that the new contract included street cleansing and 

would be negotiated via a process called ‘competitive dialogue’.  This was a 
phased process which would allow for uncertainty in the scope of the work.  
The new contract had been divided into three ‘lots’ and contractors were able 
to bid for all or any part, meaning that specialist contractors could be included 
in the bidding process.  The Council aimed to look at the issues around litter 
holistically with the contractor. 

 
Members asked about performance management within the new 

contract and were assured that robust measures had been written in to the 
contract, with the Council able to recover the costs associated with any 
breach.  It was suggested that bonus options should be considered and this 
was noted for further investigation.   

 
The Panel NOTED the update. 
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 8.50 p.m.   

 
 
 

D.E. CLIFFORD 
CHAIRMAN 

 
--------- 

Pack Page 68



Q/139 
 

BOROUGH SERVICES  
POLICY AND REVIEW PANEL 

 
Meeting held on Monday, 14th September, 2015 at the Council Offices, 

Farnborough at 7.00 p.m. 
 
 Voting Members 

Cr. Barbara Hurst (Chairman) 
 Cr. A.R. Newell (Vice-Chairman) 

 
a Cr. T.D. Bridgeman  Cr. C.P. Grattan  Cr. S.J. Masterson 
a Cr. D.E. Clifford    Cr. M.J. Roberts 
 Cr. A.M. Ferrier   a Cr. D.M. Welch 

 
 Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Crs. T. D. 
Bridgeman, D. E. Clifford and D. M . Welch. 
 

162. MINUTES –  
 

 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 8th June, 2015 were approved and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 

163. FOODBANKS – 
 
 The Panel welcomed Mr. Jamie Beaton, Community Development 
Worker, Mrs. Jane Newton, The Larder, Holy Trinity Church, Aldershot and 
Mr. Mike Shea, Farnborough Foodbank, who had all been invited to attend the 
meeting to give an update on Foodbanks at a county and local level. 
 
 Mr. Beaton commenced by giving an overview of the report 
commissioned by the Bill Sargent Trust on the work of foodbanks in 
Hampshire. A seminar had been held in Winchester in July, 2015 which had 
been attended by representatives from foodbanks, housing associations, 
voluntary organisations and Officers and Members for local councils and the 
County Council. It was advised that, whilst Hampshire contained some of the 
most affluent areas in the United Kingdom, it had also experienced a 
remarkable rise in foodbank provision and use. It was reported that there were 
at least 20 foodbanks or similar projects in Hampshire, including some in a 
number of the wealthiest areas. The research in the report contained 
information from eleven foodbanks in the County from which workers, users 
and volunteers had been interviewed; therefore, it was a small scale study 
and the findings should be considered in that context. Users interviewed were 
of mixed gender and reflected users presenting with complex issues such as 
mental health issues, learning disabilities, physical health issues, and 
substance abuse.  
 
 It was noted that most users hit crisis point before asking for 
assistance, triggers included benefit delays, changes to benefits, jobcentre 

Pack Page 69



Q/140 
 

sanctions, reductions in working hours and prolonged periods of illness. Most 
people would cope, until that final crisis trigger pushed them to ask for extra 
help, but users generally felt ashamed and embarrassed at having to ask. It 
was noted that budgeting was rarely considered an issue; most users, 
volunteers and workers had reported that, despite careful budgeting and 
frugal living, most users incomes, be it wages or benefits, had not provided 
enough to meet their basic needs 
 

The Panel noted that benefits sanctions emerged strongly as a theme, 
within the report, as a tipping point for crisis. Stories, from users, suggested 
that individuals were ending up in crisis after being sanctioned as a result of 
unavoidable circumstances, such as prolonged periods of illness and 
hospitalisation. In addition to sanctions, some individuals were slipping 
through the safety net of support altogether due to the rigid rules and 
procedures of support agencies and a lack of flexibility or tailoring of support 
to individual circumstances. As a result, people could fall deeper into arrears, 
with rent and bills creating more debt. A lack of knowledge of entitlements 
might also be causing issues. 

 
Foodbanks had a practical impact on users, often providing food 

packages to individuals who had gone for some time with very little or 
inadequate food. Users often suffered from low self-esteem, anger, frustration 
and a sense of helplessness, not knowing where they would find the money to 
feed their families. In some cases, individuals had no other support network 
than the foodbank and felt isolated and lonely. 

 
The Panel was advised of the different ways in which individuals tried 

to avoid crisis, even though a few users regarded foodbanks as part of their 
regular landscape of support, most did everything they could to avoid needing 
food parcels. Several users commented on how they lived frugally and 
budgeted carefully, in one case, an individual had considered declaring 
themselves bankrupt, some actively sought work, and others sought to save 
whatever they could to help clear their debts. Often users wanted to give 
something back by volunteering to help at their local foodbank, others gave 
financial contributions once they were more financially stable. 

 
It was reported that the use of foodbanks had increased in recent years 

but appeared to have plateaued in the last twelve months. An increasing 
number of families with children and people on low incomes had sought help 
and it had become common to see the “working poor” asking for help. As 
foodbanks had grown, some had extended their offer to include fresh food 
stuffs, toiletries and clothing and some had had to take on paid staff and were 
now renting or borrowing premises.   

 
It was advised that most foodbanks operated on a voucher system or 

referral basis, meaning that most clients had to be approved before receiving 
help. Referral agencies included school staff, GPs and housing and welfare 
advisers. The relationship with Jobcentres varied across the County with 
some reported as refusing to issue vouchers and make referrals and others 
more willing to refer their clients. On occasions, foodbank workers would use 

Pack Page 70



Q/141 
 

their discretion and would help users who had not been referred or gave extra 
help to those in particular need. In addition, foodbank staff, when appropriate, 
would signpost clients to other sources of help. 

 
It was noted that, whilst a foodbank could offer a lifeline in times of 

crisis, the help that could be offered was limited. There was little capacity for 
service users to resolve entrenched and long term problems and foodbank 
staff were aware of their limitations and had clear boundaries of what they 
could and could not do.  

 
The Report had identified that accommodation had become an issue 

for most foodbank providers and eight of the eleven interviewed had 
mentioned this as an issue. It was noted that food was being stored in various 
places including shipping containers, rented space and, in one case, a vacant 
shopping centre unit. 

 
The Panel was informed that the general consensus was that 

foodbanks would be required in Hampshire for many years to come, if not 
permanently. Interviewees suggested that a form of social breakdown might 
be to blame for the need and sited fragmentation of family life and traditional 
roles, and the disappearance of basic skills such as cooking and budgeting as 
contributing factors to the breakdown. When posed with a question about the 
future of foodbanks in Hampshire, a number of questions were raised, 
including: 

 

 What role should foodbanks in Hampshire play in the wider network 
of social support?  
 

 Should relationships with statutory and voluntary agencies become 
closer? 

 

 Should foodbanks collect and share more data so that it is possible 
to understand trends and challenges on a county-wide basis? 

 

 Given the strong view among foodbank workers that need will 
continue and may grow, were Hampshire’s food banks equipped to 
sustain their work? 

 

 Do foodbanks have the capacity and resource to cope with 
unexpected demands? 

 

 Do foodbanks need a better understanding of the current and 
emerging policy context 

 
The Panel discussed the report and commented on the size of the 

study and the need to acquire more data, to gain a better picture of the 
situation in the county and at a local level. 

 
Mrs. Newton addressed the Panel on the working arrangements of 

“The Larder”, which was run from the Holy Trinity Church, Aldershot. It was 

Pack Page 71



Q/142 
 

advised that The Larder was the only foodbank provision in Aldershot since 
the closure of the Kings Church, which had provided a similar service. The 
Larder had been operating for the last 7–8 years and worked on a referral 
basis only. Food came via donations from the Church and from local schools, 
especially at harvest time, and had been stored in a cupboard in the Church 
Hall. 

 
It was noted that all parcels were hand delivered to individuals and 

currently 3-4 parcels a week were being distributed to each client. Clients 
were generally single men and couples with mental health or drug and alcohol 
issues. On occasions, referrals had been made for people from the Nepalese 
community and food parcels had been prepared to meet their dietary 
requirements. It was advised that most clients were regular users and came 
back again and again due to ill health or financial issues. 

 
The Panel was advised that there were three people running The 

Larder at the present time, but Mrs. Newton would be taking a step back in 
the future due to other commitments. The Panel discussed the need for 
foodbank provision in Aldershot and the huge undertaking by volunteers and 
space requirements to provide a sustainable provision. 

 
Mr. Shea talked to the Panel about the Trussell Trust Farnborough 

Foodbank provision. It was advised that 3,356 families in both Farnborough 
and Aldershot had received 33,000 meals during 2014, this equalled three 
meals a day over a three day period for each person in the family. It was 
noted that the Trust had tried to set up a satellite branch in Aldershot, but 
unfortunately it hadn’t got the support it required to run effectively, therefore 
the Farnborough Foodbank served a small number of residents in Aldershot 
as well. 

 
The donated food was stored at the Brownings Barracks, Aldershot, 

the building had no refrigeration facilities so only non-perishable food stuffs 
were stored. It was noted that Costco had donated a lot of fresh fruit and 
cakes on Fridays, which were then distributed to users on the same day. 

 
The Trust had started a number of initiatives to support a wider range 

of needs, these included: 
 

 Eat Well Spend Less Course – sponsored by Unilever, this 
included cookery classes, supermarket psychology and 
budgeting 
 

 Kitchen Starter Packs – collection of household goods for 
people being housed for the first time 

 

 Cold Packs -  aimed at the homeless population who had no 
provision to heat/cook food 

 

 Kettle Packs – aimed at users in bed and breakfast 
accommodation  with access to a kettle and/or microwave only 

Pack Page 72



Q/143 
 

 

 Clothing Packs – The Trust held a store of children’s clothes for 
those in need  

 
It was advised that the lease on the Brownings Barracks had been for 

seven years but it was stressed that an exit strategy needed to be determined 
as the demand for foodbank services was likely to increase in the future. The 
Panel also discussed the lack of provision in Aldershot and the need to 
provide support to hard to reach groups across the Borough. The complex 
issues surrounding the involvement of the Jobcentre would be considered at 
the next mid cycle meeting. 

 
The Chairman thanked Mr. Beaton, Mrs. Newton and Mr. Shea for their 

contribution to the meeting. 
 
164. BOROUGH SERVICES PORTFOLIO BUDGETS –  

 
  The Panel welcomed Ms. Amanda Fahey, Head of Finance, who 
attended the meeting to report on the Budgets within the Panels portfolio to 
assist in identifying future items for the work programme. 
 
  The Panel noted the statutory and discretionary budgets and were also 
advised on regulatory services which were picked up elsewhere by other 
Panels or Committees, such as Hackney Carriages. After some discussion, 
the Panel identified the following items as potential items for future agendas: 
 

 Pollution and Environmental Control – in particular around pollution 
and the impacts on the Community 

 Integrated CCTV – update since the integration with Hart District 
Council and any impacts/effects caused by the merger  

 Troubled Families – update on the current situation  

 Grants – in particular Farnborough and Cove War Memorial 
Hospital Trust – a visit may be made to the facility 

 Community Patrol Team – a background note would be given at the 
mid cycle meeting  

 Meals on Wheels – an update would be given at the mid cycle 
meeting 

 
Further discussion on the identified items would be held at the next mid 

cycle meeting. 
 
165. WORK PROGRAMME –  
 

The Panel noted the current work programme. 
 
 

The Meeting closed at 8.29 p.m. 
         

 BARBARA HURST 
CHAIRMAN 

Pack Page 73



 

Q/145  
 

COMMUNITY 
POLICY AND REVIEW PANEL 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 17th September, 2015 at the 

Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.   
  

Voting Members 
      
 Cr. M.D. Smith (Chairman) 
     Cr. M.S. Choudhary (Vice-Chairman) 
      
  
    a 

 

Cr. Sophia Choudhary 
Cr. R. Cooper 
Cr. Liz Corps 
 

  
 

Cr. Jennifer Evans 
 

 
  

a 

Cr. S.J. Masterson 
Cr. M.J. Roberts 
Cr. P.F. Rust 
 

 Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Crs. R. Cooper and 
P.F. Rust. 

 
166. MINUTES – 

 
 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 11th June, 2015 were approved 

and signed by the Chairman.  
 

167. HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2011-2016 –  
 
  The Panel was joined by the Head of Environmental Health and 
Housing (Ms Qamer Yasin), Strategy Enabling Managers (Ms Zoe Paine and 
Ms Sally Ravenhill) and the Housing Options Manager (Ms Suzannah Hellicar) 
to consider the Head of Environmental Health and Housing Report No. EHH 
1510 providing the fourth update of the Housing and Homeslessness Strategy 
and the delivery plan. The strategic housing objectives had been established 
in 2011. 
 
  The Panel was reminded of the purpose of the Strategy, which was to 
make sure that Rushmoor’s residents had access to good quality homes that 
were affordable and appropriate to their needs. The Strategy had four themes:  
 

 housing supply and the delivery of good quality housing  

 homelessness and homelessness prevention  

 meeting the needs of specific groups  

 neighbourhoods and housing standards 
  

 It was noted that during 2014/15, 149 affordable homes had been 
delivered, equating to a total of 431 since the introduction of the strategy in 
2011. Members were informed that the Wellesley development work had 
started, with the first 20 affordable units available from Spring 2016. North 
Town regeneration was described as First Wessex’s priority development, with 
135 units delivered in 2014/15 and another 152 units due to be completed by 
2017/18. 

 

Pack Page 74



 

Q/146  
 

 
The Panel was informed that the former Garrison Sergeants’ Mess at 

Clayton Barracks in Thornhill Road, Aldershot had been developed into 45 
units of temporary accommodation, with investments from Oak Housing and 
the Homes and Communities Agency. Some residents had been placed in the 
accommodation which was made up of large bedrooms that slept between 1-5 
people, private kitchens and bathrooms and a large outside space. It was 
estimated that a £200,000 saving would be made by the Council per year. 
Members heard that this accommodation would only be available for seven 
years because of the Project Wellesley development, however, it was 
explained that more affordable housing would be made available before then. 

 
During 2014/15, the Housing Options Team had given advice to over 

600 households and provided 132 rent deposits to assist residents into the 
private sector. Rushmoor had given a £7,500 grant to go towards the Vine’s 
Night Shelter, which assisted 28 people. It was noted that this was a very 
successful programme as it also encouraged people to engage with the Vine. 
The Panel heard that the Vine had received an award for excellent practice. 

 
The presentation included a number of examples of work the Council 

had been doing in order to meet the needs of specific groups, including 
consultation work with Planning on pitch provision for gypsies, travellers and 
travelling show people. Other work involved home safety awareness training 
for older Nepalese residents with Hampshire Fire and Rescue, work with 
registered providers to deliver specialist housing for older residents and the 
development of wheelchair accessible units along with 90 disabled facilities 
grants used for ramps, grab rails and stair lifts to help residents stay in their 
homes. 

 
It was reported that reviews of registered providers had improved 

partnership working as the Council had been able to gain a greater 
understanding of the way the providers operated. Members were also 
informed of the Council’s new partnerships with housing associatons and Hart 
District Council. 

 
The Panel was then advised of the challenges faced by the Housing 

Strategy and Enabling Team included the new rent regime, viability challenges 
on affordable housing and the unknown impact of the Right to Buy scheme. 
The Housing Options Team had continued to see an increase in demand for 
the services provided, including tackling homelessness and moving residents 
from temporary into settled accommodation; there had also been an impact on 
the service due to reductions in other services, e.g. Supporting People. The 
Private Sector Housing Team had faced challenges around overcrowding, 
disrepair in the increasing number of housed in multiple occupation and the 
ability to assist residents to stay in their own homes as there had been a 
reduction in disabled facilities grants. 

 
Members were informed that the Housing and Homelessness Strategy 

was due to end in March 2016 and that consultation for the 2016-2021 
strategy would take place in early Spring 2016. The Panel requested that an 

Pack Page 75



 

Q/147  
 

interactive workshop should be arranged to enable it to have an influence in 
the early stages of the development of the next strategy. 

 
The Panel NOTED the update.  
 

168.   HOMELESSNESS IN ALDERSHOT CAR PARK – 
 

The Housing Options Manager, Ms Suzannah Hellicar, was invited to 
the meeting to update the Panel on Aldershot’s situation with rough sleepers 
and the actions that had been taken. 

 
The Panel heard that there had been an increase in the number of 

people sleeping rough or sofa surfing both nationally and in the Borough. It 
was noted that there were approximately 24 rough sleepers in Aldershot, 
although, it had been difficult to record the numbers of street homelessness 
due to individual situations constantly changing. The majority were men, aged 
between 19 and 65 and many had substance misuse issues. While there had 
been a number of attempts to engage with the client group, they had 
demonstrated an unwillingness to engage with the Council and agencies. It 
was believed that they had also been associated with anti-social behaviour in 
and around Aldershot Town Centre. 70% of the rough sleepers in Aldershot 
were Rushmoor residents while others had potentially come from 
neighbouring areas, where work would be carried out to re-connect those 
residents to their home areas. 

 
The significant increase in numbers was due to individuals moving in 

with vulnerable residents which had then resulted in those residents losing 
their homes following incidents of anti-social behaviour. Members were 
assured that the Council had been working with housing associations in 
identifying and stopping such behaviour.  

 
Members were informed that approximately 8-12 homeless people had 

occupied the High Street car park which had resulted in a number of 
complaints about anti-social behaviour, hygiene and intimidation. Short, 
medium and longer term approaches were discussed with the Panel, in 
particular, the Council’s intention to seek a legal injunction under the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, which aimed to clear the car 
park and stop the anti-social behaviour in the Town Centre. The Panel was 
informed that while the injuction would exclude those named on it from certain 
areas in the Town Centre, the Council would ensure that they continued to 
have access to services they needed. It was also mentioned that the injunction 
would include positive steps, for example, the homeless must engage with 
Inclusion Services, the Housing Options Team, the Vine and other relevant 
services.  It was explained that a multi-agency approach had been taken to 
tackle the issues and meetings for joint-agency problem solving had also been 
arranged. A multi-agency Hub had also been set up; a two-day event held at 
the Princes Hall which would be attended by Health, Drug and Alcohol 
services, Adult Social Services, the Police, Housing Services and the Vine. 

 
Medium term options for consideration included eight existing beds to 

be made available to the most challenging and vulnerable individuals in 

Pack Page 76



 

Q/148  
 

Rushmoor and Hart, out of hours community support for the vulnerable client 
group, continued multi-agency meetings and also an investigation into whether 
the Council needed a more robust method of outreach. 

 
Longer term options for 2016-2021 were also discussed, for example, 

to continue the multi-agency meetings and joint working to ensure emerging 
issues would be rapidly addressed by all of the relevant agencies. 

 
It was concluded that while this had been a difficult and challenging 

issue for the Housing Options Team, the multi-agency approach had been 
essential and a review of the legal approach would be carried out. 

 
The Panel NOTED the presentation. 

 
169. WELFARE REFORM TASK AND FINISH GROUP –  
 

Members received a copy of the minutes from the Welfare Reform Task 
and Finish Group meeting that had taken place on 23rd June, 2015. 

 
The Panel NOTED the minutes of the meeting. 

   
170. WORK PROGRAMME – 

 
   The Panel NOTED the work programme and work schedule.  

 
 
 

   The Meeting closed at 8.55 p.m. 
 
 
 

M.D. SMITH  
                                           CHAIRMAN 

 
---------- 

Pack Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	Extraordinary Meeting of the Council Minutes - 30th July 2015

	6 REPORTS OF CABINET AND COMMITTEES
	Cabinet Minutes - 28 July 2015
	Cabinet Minutes - 1 September 2015
	Cabinet Minutes - 22 September 2015
	DMC Minutes - 22nd July  2015
	Appendix A
	DMC Minutes - 19th August 2015
	DMC - Appendix A - 19th August, 2015
	DMC Minutes - 16th September,  2015
	DMC - Appx - 16th September

	7 REPORTS OF POLICY AND REVIEW PANELS
	Leisure and Youth Minutes - 7 September 2015
	Environment Panel Minutes - 8th September 2015
	Borough Services Policy and Review Panel Minutes - 14 September 2015
	Community Panel Minutes - 17 September


